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          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Good morning.

          3  I'm a little winded.  Actually, it's afternoon.  I

          4  apologize for being late.  I had a meeting that kind

          5  of went a little longer than I anticipated.

          6                 I want to welcome everyone for being

          7  here. Today we're going to be conducting a hearing

          8  on seven pieces of legislation dealing with campaign

          9  finance reform.  As you know, we have been

         10  constantly looking at the Campaign Finance Program

         11  to see how we can continually make it better and

         12  better.  We recognize that there is an ideal that we

         13  have not quite reached but, nevertheless, continue

         14  trying to get there.

         15                 Today we will be looking at

         16  introductory bills No. 291, 382, 447 and Resolution

         17  552.  These pieces of legislation are particularly

         18  timely as we approach another election season for

         19  the City Council.  This year's election will make 15

         20  years of elections under our Campaign Finance

         21  Program.  It's pretty good, 15 years.

         22                 New York City has been trailblazing

         23  in regards to campaign finance reform.  This Council

         24  first enacted campaign finance reform legislation

         25  back in 1988. We created a program that has been
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          2  pyridine shifting, the model for other cities in the

          3  nation as a whole.  We consider the program a

          4  masterpiece but, of course, it is not perfect but

          5  rather an ongoing work in progress.

          6                 This committee is charged with

          7  constantly monitoring the program and reviewing any

          8  concerns with the program when they become apparent.

          9    Notwithstanding such imperfections the Campaign

         10  Finance Program has moved our city ahead by leaps

         11  and bounds.  The city's political process is pure

         12  and stronger and, most importantly, democratic

         13  participation by the people has been enhanced.

         14                 The program began with a match of

         15  public funds to begin contributions of one to one.

         16  In 1998 this Council passed legislation increasing

         17  such match to four to one.  This committee and

         18  Council again this year in January passed some more

         19  legislation to better outline the program with its

         20  objective of producing fairer and more democratic

         21  elections.

         22                 The Board and we here at the Council

         23  have learned much from our years of experience with

         24  the program. Whenever we make these changes we are

         25  attempting to better harmonize the practical

                                                            5

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2  application of the program with its greater ideals

          3  and aims.  The subject of the match in particular

          4  touches on the concerns this committee expects to

          5  hear some discussion on today.

          6                 As most New Yorkers know, the city

          7  finds itself in an extremely dire fiscal crisis, the

          8  worst since the 1970s.  This has created a demand

          9  for fiscal austerity. As a result there are concerns

         10  and there have been internal discussions about the

         11  expense of campaign finance and the appropriateness

         12  of such an expense.  In particular, the discussion

         13  has evolved around the appropriateness of the four

         14  to one match.

         15                 This committee and Council is

         16  sensitive to the concerns of the public.  When we

         17  hear such concerns, we are compelled to respond and

         18  seriously deliberate on such matters as we intend to

         19  do today.  This hearing today is meant to provide a

         20  forum for the various views on this and other

         21  campaign finance issues to be expressed.  This

         22  committee is always willing to entertain progressive

         23  legislations as long as it maintains a connection

         24  with the pulse of the people.

         25                 Today's inquiry will be a balanced
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          2  inquiry. Although we fully recognize the weight of

          3  the fiscal crisis that confronts us, crisis alone

          4  cannot mandate an aggressive transformation of our

          5  progressive politics.  Democracy costs and it ain't

          6  necessarily cheap.  Some things cannot be on the

          7  budgetary cutting block.  At this committee's last

          8  hearing on June 10th we had to conduct oversight on

          9  just as precarious a balance.  The issue then was

         10  preserving public safety and protecting civil rights

         11  and civil liberties, providing one need not and

         12  should not jeopardize the other.

         13                 The balance we deal with today is

         14  just as weighty and the consequences of a compromise

         15  too far in either direction is just as disastrous.

         16  We are looking effect cost savings but not at the

         17  expense of the elective franchise.  Such is the

         18  discourse of democracy.

         19                 Intro. No. 291 changes the matching

         20  rate in the Campaign Finance Program from 4 to 2 and

         21  from 5 to 3 against well- financed candidates.

         22                 Intro. No. 382 changes the matching

         23  rate from 4 to 3.  Additionally, the maximum amount

         24  of public funds received per contributor is

         25  accordingly lowered to 750 from 1,000.  The maximum
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          2  aggregate amount of public funds per City Council

          3  candidate is also lowered to 70,000.  The amount

          4  would otherwise be 82,500 for Council member

          5  candidates for the upcoming 2003 elections.

          6                 Intro. No. 382 additionally addresses

          7  amending many other aspects of the program which

          8  will be discussed here in depth at today's hearing.

          9                 Intro. No. 447 affirms support for

         10  the 4 to 1 match and the legislative attempt and

         11  increases the contribution limits by a thousand for

         12  candidates for all offices.

         13                 Reso. 552 urges the Governor and the

         14  State Legislature to pass the Clean Money/Clean

         15  Elections Act, a bill that would amend and reform

         16  the campaign finance system in New York State.  This

         17  act would do a great deal to make the state system

         18  more like the city system, making the state

         19  electoral process freerer from special interest

         20  money and influence.

         21                 Additionally, there's new legislation

         22  that the Campaign Finance Board has recently

         23  released relating to the providing an opportunity

         24  for self- financed candidates to take part in the

         25  program.  Although that legislation is not before
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          2  the committee today, it appears to be something

          3  highly beneficial to preserving fair and honest

          4  elections in the city and perhaps the Board will be

          5  able to briefly speak to it.

          6                 Today we expect to hear testimony

          7  from the Board, public advocates and elections

          8  attorneys and monitors.  We will begin.  First I'll

          9  hear from the Campaign Finance Board.  Please join

         10  us at the witness table.

         11                 MS. GORDON:  Good afternoon, Chairman

         12  Perkins.  I'm --

         13                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  Hold on just

         14  one second.  I have to swear everybody in.

         15                 MS. GORDON:  I'm sorry.

         16                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  No problem.

         17  Could you each raise your right hand?  Do you

         18  solemnly swear or affirm the testimony you're about

         19  to give is the truth, the whole truth and nothing

         20  but the truth?

         21                 MS. GORDON:  Yes.

         22                 MS. LOPREST:  Yes.

         23                 MS. DODELL:  Yes.

         24                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  Could you each

         25  for the record state your name and your position
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          2  with the Board?

          3                 MS. GORDON:  Nicole Gordon, Executive

          4  Director.

          5                 MS. LOPREST:  Amy Loprest, Campaign

          6  Finance Administration.

          7                 MS. DODELL:  Sue Ellen Dodell,

          8  General Counsel.

          9                 MS. GORDON:  Good afternoon.  As I

         10  said, I'm Nicole Gordon.  Our Chairman, Fritz

         11  Schwartz, asked that I convey to you his apologies

         12  for not being here today.  As the Interim President

         13  of the Brennen Center he is Chairing a long

         14  scheduled meeting of the center's Board today and

         15  could not be here.

         16                 It is my understanding that the

         17  Council does not intend to pass any changes in the

         18  Campaign Finance Act to be effective for the 2003

         19  elections.  I want to emphasize that the Board

         20  agrees, because this would be unfair to candidates

         21  who have already had to make their decision about

         22  whether to opt into the program for 2003.

         23                 Intro. 382, as you know, contains

         24  recommendations the Board made in its 2001 post-

         25  election report.  The recommendations were made
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          2  after receiving feedback from candidates through the

          3  Board's post- election surveys and hearings and on

          4  the basis of a detailed statistical analysis of

          5  data.  They are aimed at further strengthening a

          6  program that is already well established as a model.

          7    In order to maintain the effectiveness of the New

          8  York City program, the Council wisely provided, as

          9  you said, Chairman Perkins, that the Board should

         10  review the operation of the program and make

         11  recommendations after each election. The Council has

         12  the ultimate responsibility to study those

         13  recommendations and continue to strengthen the

         14  program through legislation.  This body has shown

         15  its commitment to good government reform even when

         16  that reform might not be in an individual elected

         17  official's self- interest.  For example, the Council

         18  has reduced contribution limits, restricted the

         19  source of contributions, and increased disclosure

         20  requirements.  The Board urges the Council again to

         21  consider the proposals.

         22                 Limited participants is a subject

         23  that, Chairman Perkins, you just referred to.  In

         24  addition to the bills before you today, the Campaign

         25  Finance Board is now proposing a new category of
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          2  limited participant in the program.  Under this new

          3  category, self- funded candidates would be able to

          4  continue to finance their own campaigns, but would

          5  be bound by the program's expenditure limits, debate

          6  and disclosure requirements, and audit by the Board.

          7  This arrangement would permit the self- funded

          8  candidate who is not beholden to large contributors,

          9  and is using his or her own money, obviously, to

         10  have his or her campaign expenditures legally

         11  limited, thus maintaining an even playing field for

         12  other candidates.  No other jurisdiction has

         13  attempted to address the issue of self- funded

         14  candidates in this way.  Of course, self- funded

         15  candidates may choose not to become limited

         16  participants and for that reason the Board continues

         17  to support changes in the law that would give

         18  participants greater protection against high

         19  spending non- participants.  I'll discuss that a

         20  little bit more later.

         21                 The debate law.  This committee last

         22  considered the Board's proposed changes to the

         23  debate law earlier this year.  Unfortunately, the

         24  language on debates was removed before the last bill

         25  was voted on by the Council, and the Board does hope
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          2  that this important recommendation will be

          3  reconsidered.  By allowing sponsors to set standards

          4  for debate participants, the Council will help to

          5  improve the overall quality and value of the debate

          6  program.  The recommendations made by the Board

          7  following the 1997 election cycle, and the

          8  experience of 2001 underscored the need for these

          9  changes.  The Board is prepared, given objections by

         10  the Law Department, to delete the provision that you

         11  have before you in the proposal that would require

         12  the city to indemnify sponsors and instead simply

         13  remove the existing requirement that sponsors

         14  indemnify the city.

         15                 Included in Intro. 382 is a board

         16  recommendation for a two tiered bonus system for

         17  candidates who face a high spending non-

         18  participant.  As you know, the bonus is triggered

         19  when a non- participant raises or spends half the

         20  spending limit.  It has three parts:  An increased

         21  matching rate of 5 to 1 in place of the usual 4 to

         22  1, an increase in the total amount of public funds a

         23  candidate can receive and lifting of the expenditure

         24  limits.  The Board proposes that in the case of non-

         25  participants who spend an extremely high amount, the
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          2  bonus match would increase to 6 to 1 and the total

          3  in public funds would also be increased. I've

          4  attached a chart to my testimony to illustrate how

          5  this works with the different offices.

          6                 The Board concluded in its post-

          7  election report that the expenditure limits for City

          8  Council and the amounts in public funds going to

          9  these races was driving up the cost of campaigns

         10  more than is reasonably necessary.  As a result, the

         11  Board has recommended lowering expenditure limits

         12  for City Council, lowering the total amount in

         13  public funds and lowering the matching rate.  It's

         14  important to note, however, that the Board did not

         15  recommend a reduction in the matching rate by itself

         16  and certainly, as stated above, the rate should not

         17  be changed now, after candidates have opted in to

         18  the program based on the existing rate.  To reduce

         19  the matching rate without also reducing the

         20  expenditure and the total amount in public funds

         21  would disproportionately hurt non- incumbents and

         22  candidates from less affluent neighborhoods.

         23                 The Board also recommends simplifying

         24  expenditure limits.  The Board's recommendations are

         25  based on a detailed study of the record and are
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          2  designed to preserve a level playing field.

          3                 The Board cannot support and does not

          4  support the recommendation made in Intro. 291

          5  seeking to reduce the matching rate from 4 to 1 to 2

          6  to 1 which the Board believes would seriously impair

          7  a challenger's ability to mount a comparative

          8  campaign as well as the ability of candidates with

          9  less access to monied resources to compete

         10  effectively.

         11                 On lowering contribution limits, in

         12  the past the Board has recommended reductions.  The

         13  objective has been to reduce the risk that large

         14  contributors could exercise undue influence without

         15  at the same time unduly impairing participants'

         16  ability to raise funds to wage competitive

         17  campaigns.  The Board repeats it 1998 recommendation

         18  to lower the contribution limits for City Council

         19  candidates, perhaps the number one tool that you can

         20  take a look at about how the size contribution

         21  affected the races in general.

         22                 Our analysis shows that high end

         23  contributions continue to play a disproportionate

         24  role in the totality of funds available to citywide

         25  candidates in particular.  This is to a significant
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          2  degree offset by the 4 to 1 matching rate for small

          3  contribution limit is higher than the matching

          4  limit, there will be an incentive to seek the bigger

          5  contributions.  Further, if no change is made, the

          6  current inflation adjusted contribution limit for

          7  citywide candidates will be 24% higher than the

          8  combined primary and general election contribution

          9  limits even for Presidential candidates at the

         10  federal level.  The Board believes that these high

         11  contribution limits are entirely inappropriate and

         12  should be changed for 2005.  The Board recommends a

         13  contribution limit of $4,000 for citywide

         14  candidates, $3,000 for boroughwide candidates and

         15  $2,000 for City Council.

         16                 The Board would strongly oppose the

         17  recommendation made in Intro. 447 to increase

         18  contribution limits.  This would increase the

         19  influence of wealthy contributors, disadvantage

         20  candidates and contributors from less wealthy

         21  districts, and would be a step backward for the

         22  Campaign Finance Program and a reversal by the

         23  Council, which wisely reduced limits in 1998.

         24                 The ban on corporate contributions

         25  approved by New York City voters in 1998 directly
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          2  addressed the dangers of corruption, erosion of

          3  confidence in the democratic process and the unfair

          4  advantage in the political marketplace created by

          5  corporate contributions.  The Board believes that

          6  the same rationale applies to other organizational

          7  contributions, including unions, partnerships,

          8  limited liability companies and all political

          9  committees.  Banning all organization contributions

         10  would also significantly simplify reporting and

         11  compliance.  Some candidates had difficulty

         12  distinguishing between contributions from

         13  corporations and other entities, or failed to

         14  understand the political committee registration

         15  process, often resulting in a temporary suspension

         16  in public funds payments or penalties.

         17                 Use of government resources is a

         18  subject on which the City Council passed an

         19  amendment to the Charter prohibiting certain uses of

         20  government funds and resources. The Board recommends

         21  the current law be strengthened by lengthening the

         22  prohibition on the use of government resources for

         23  mass mailings before an election from 30 days to 90

         24  days, but without impinging on an elected official's

         25  need to respond to constituents who have been in
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          2  contact with his or her office.  The Board also

          3  urges banning altogether the use of government

          4  resources for distributing gifts to promote an

          5  officeholder's candidacy.  The Board further

          6  recommends that the Conflicts of Interest Board be

          7  granted explicit authority to investigate and

          8  determine whether violations of this section have

          9  occurred and if a violation has been detected by the

         10  Conflict Board, that the Campaign finance Board be

         11  given the authority to investigate and determine

         12  whether a prohibited use of government resources is

         13  also a violation of the Campaign Finance Act.

         14                 An other issue that the Board will

         15  continue to study is how to strengthen the Council's

         16  new approach to the disbursement of matching funds

         17  under the Campaign Finance Program to program

         18  participants who are faced by nominal opposition.

         19                 The Board is hopeful that the Council

         20  consider Intro No. 382 sooner rather than later so

         21  that changes can be in place as early as possible

         22  for 2005.

         23                 Thank you and I'd be pleased to

         24  answer your questions.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Thank you very
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          2  much.  I want to acknowledge some of the members of

          3  the committee that are here.  Starting on my right,

          4  Council Member Nelson, Councilwoman Christine Quinn,

          5  Councilwoman Madeline Provenzano and Councilman

          6  Gallagher, who is the sponsor of Intro. 291.

          7  Councilman Gallagher, if you'd like to make some

          8  comments with regard to your legislation.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER:   Mr.

         10  Chairman, first of all, I'd like to say thank you

         11  for having this hearing today and I thank Speaker

         12  Miller for allowing the hearing on this bill.

         13                 Introduced Intro. 291 in light of the

         14  fact that we have such budgetary restraints this

         15  year.  I just seem to think that it's quite logical

         16  when we look at some of the things that we are

         17  forced to do in government this year, including

         18  closing the firehouses, the reductions of services

         19  in the classrooms, elimination of some jobs within

         20  the school system, closing of some senior centers

         21  throughout the City of New York, among all the other

         22  list of things that we've seen over the last year.

         23  That it's not a good time for less than giving a 4

         24  to 1 matchable rate in the City of New York.

         25                 Intro. 291 calls for a reduction from
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          2  4 to 1 to 2 to 1 and of the estimates shown to me

          3  that would probably save the city somewhere between

          4  6 and $7 million. When we look at the citywide

          5  aspect of this, it might raise up to almost a $20

          6  million in savings over the next three fiscal years.

          7                 Certainly in the dire fiscal climate

          8  that we're in, and some the difficult things that we

          9  have to do in government, I think that that money,

         10  the money that we see in campaign financing now, is

         11  better spent on senior centers and essential

         12  services and public safety than it is for campaign

         13  posters and buttons on the streets of the City of

         14  New York.

         15                 So, Mr. Chairman, thank you for the

         16  hearing today and I look forward to listening to all

         17  the witnesses in regards to these bills.  Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Thank you very

         19  much. We obviously are not going to be making any

         20  changes in time for the upcoming elections.  When do

         21  you anticipate, if this was to become law, when did

         22  you anticipate it being effective?

         23                 MS. GORDON:  In general, it's always

         24  useful to pass changes as early as possible for the

         25  next election cycle.  2005 is not upon us for City
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          2  Council yet, but it is very shortly upon us for the

          3  other offices, so if changes are going to be made

          4  for 2005, the Board would certainly like to see that

          5  done as soon as possible.  I know that as a

          6  realistic matter that we're probably talking about

          7  the fall or the winter rather than now, so I think

          8  that's -- you know, we're certainly prepared to work

          9  with you on the basis of that kind of a schedule but

         10  I think that would be desirable to move sooner after

         11  the summer rather than later.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  In your

         13  testimony you acknowledge that Intro. 291 would

         14  seriously impair a challenger's ability to mount a

         15  competitive campaign.  How does that math apply to

         16  your recommendation of coming down from 4 to 1 to 3

         17  to 1?

         18                 MS. GORDON:  Well, I think that there

         19  are a couple of things to look at.  First of all, I

         20  think the Board is very clear that when you get to

         21  lower numbers like that then you are really

         22  interfering with one of the purposes of the program.

         23    I think it's also important to understand the 3 to

         24  1 recommendation in a context.  It wasn't a

         25  recommendation that was taken as a separate proposal
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          2  to the Council and should not be understood that

          3  way.  It's part of a couple of other things of the

          4  Board's recommendations.  One is lowering the

          5  expenditure limit for City Council and lowering the

          6  total amount in public funds. I would not attach the

          7  same priority to the 3 to 1 recommendation the Board

          8  is making as I would to those other changes that

          9  would, the Board believes, create an even more level

         10  playing field and at the same time, to some degree,

         11  lower the cost of the campaigns.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  The other

         13  changes you have in mind are particularly with

         14  regard to lowering the cost of the campaigns.  You

         15  think that's --

         16                 MS. GORDON:  It was to lower the

         17  expenditure limit and the total amount in public

         18  funds that a candidate can receive at the Council

         19  level.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Right.  And you

         21  feel that sort of helps in terms of the spirit of

         22  the Campaign Finance Program as far as leveling the

         23  playing field is concerned?

         24                 MS. GORDON:  Yes.  You see what

         25  happens is, I mean, just to take a hypothetical, if

                                                            22

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2  you lowered the matching rate to 2 to 1 but you kept

          3  a high expenditure limit and a high amount in

          4  ultimate public funds that you can receive, that

          5  would make it harder for people in low income areas

          6  or candidates without access to wealth to reach the

          7  heights, so to speak, whereas others who have that

          8  access can make up the difference in private funds,

          9  would be able to do it easily.  So if you're trying

         10  to make sure that all the candidates have the

         11  resources to run competitive campaigns, it seems as

         12  though you need to pay particular attention to the

         13  expenditure limits and the total amount in public

         14  funds that people can get to make sure that the

         15  expenditure limits are not so much higher than the

         16  amount of public funds that people are getting and

         17  that the matching rate is not so low that it is

         18  making it difficult for some candidates to make use

         19  of the system.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  And you're

         21  concerned about increasing the number of threshold

         22  contributors?

         23                 MS. GORDON:  Increasing the number

         24  of?

         25                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Threshold
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          2  contributors. Is that a --

          3                 MS. GORDON:  No, I don't know that

          4  the Board has a concern about that.  As you know,

          5  for this election that number is higher than in the

          6  past and I think that would be something that might

          7  be worth studying further, but right now it's 75

          8  contributors rather than 50 for City Council because

          9  of the redistricting.  But that was a proposal the

         10  Board had made and the Board was satisfied that the

         11  Council went forward with that.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Thank you very

         13  much.  I want to acknowledge the presence of Council

         14  Member Vallone. We'll go to Councilwoman Quinn who

         15  has some questions and concerns.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  Thank you.  In

         17  your testimony you talked about possible changes to

         18  the expenditures that would be allowed for Council

         19  candidates. Can you expand on that a little bit?

         20                 MS. GORDON:  Sure.  The

         21  recommendation is --

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  Is that the

         23  Board's recommendation?

         24                 MS. GORDON:  The Board recommendation

         25  is that the total expenditure limits for City
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          2  Council, which would be as high as -- I'm talking

          3  about primary and general elections combined would

          4  be as high as 343,000 in 2005 should be

          5  significantly lowered to a total of about 292,000

          6  with the idea that these figures have now been, in a

          7  way, inflated by the availability of public funds

          8  perhaps more than is really necessary for a lot of

          9  campaigns to wage a competitive campaign.

         10                 You know, years ago the idea of

         11  spending $100,000 on a Council campaign was really

         12  considered quite an extraordinary amount of money.

         13  Now spending 150,000 is quite -- is much more

         14  normal.  But the question is whether it's really

         15  necessary.  The Board is proposing a lower limit on

         16  the basis of the information the Board has.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  I have a

         18  comment and then a couple questions.  A number of

         19  years ago the City Council wasn't the legislative

         20  body of the City of New York. The legislative body

         21  remained an entity which had the majority of the

         22  power over the budget and the contracts and land use

         23  was the Board of Estimate.  So perhaps people didn't

         24   -- perhaps the thought of spending more money if in

         25  fact your assertion that people spent that much is
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          2  true, was based on the fact that they weren't

          3  seeking a job that had the same level of

          4  responsibilities and powers as this job now has.  So

          5  it might be a little bit of comparing apples and

          6  oranges.

          7                 That said, when the Board came to the

          8  determination of the lower number, what analysis did

          9  you do to determine that that was an amount of money

         10  that could get the job done.  Did you survey

         11  candidates, did you talk to printers, did you meet

         12  with mail houses, how did the increase in postal

         13  rates get factored in, did you think about -- did

         14  you talk to real estate brokers for campaign

         15  headquarter costs, staff, et cetera, et cetera?

         16                 MS. GORDON:  This is part -- you

         17  know, this is obviously part art and part science.

         18  It's not -- there's no magic number.  I think

         19  obviously people can reasonably disagree about what

         20  number it should be.  One of the challenges is

         21  looking over time --

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  My question,

         23  just to understand, tell me how you got, before you

         24  move on, I'm just interested to know how you got to

         25  the number, what factors --
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          2                 MS. GORDON:  Right.  I do want to

          3  address that.  We do look at average costs for

          4  campaigns and how they increase over time.  One of

          5  the factors -- I think you're right, that if you

          6  look back before 1989, you would find a very

          7  different picture but even in 1989 and for a few

          8  years after that, the costs of -- when we're talking

          9  about $100,000 and things like that you were really

         10  talking about a couple of zip codes, you know, on

         11  the upper east side. One thing we saw in our

         12  analysis was that the 4 to 1 match, and the very big

         13  increase in the amount of public funds available to

         14  Council campaigns, there was good news and maybe --

         15  and a question mark.  The good news was Council

         16  races were much more vigorous and much more costly

         17  and that was probably a good thing because the old

         18  numbers, while much lower, were also indicative of

         19  the fact that they weren't -- the campaigns were not

         20  so competitive.

         21                 On the other hand, there was a sense

         22  that a lot of money was maybe being used because it

         23  was available and not necessarily just because a

         24  campaign needed them.

         25                 Now, the other part of the picture is
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          2  that you have a lot of variation between geographic

          3  areas.  Upper east side is going to be a lot more

          4  expensive than, you know, some other districts.  So,

          5  it's a big challenge to choose or to find a number

          6  that is going to be the right number for every

          7  district.

          8                 The Board judged, looking at some of

          9  those costs of printing, rent and all these kinds of

         10  things and the difference between the district and

         11  the history of what Council campaigns have cost,

         12  that this was a reasonable approach, but I don't

         13  want to pretend to some magic.  As I say, I think

         14  that reasonable people can disagree and I think it's

         15  a real challenge to reach a conclusion about it.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  Had the Board

         17   --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  May I

         19  interrupt?  I just want to understand.  The cost of

         20  campaigns are going up?

         21                 MS. GORDON:  Yes.  But --

         22                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  But that -- at

         23  some point that has to be reflected in the Campaign

         24  Finance Program.

         25                 MS. GORDON:  For sure.  And in the
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          2  old

          3  days --

          4                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  But this

          5  proposal, if I may, just to see if I'm hearing clear

          6  as to what you're suggesting, seems to be counter to

          7  what is reality.  In other words we're putting --

          8  we're bringing down the cost of the campaigns even

          9  as the costs are going up.  Is that the concern that

         10  you were talking about?

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  What I wanted

         12  to try to understand is, I mean, it seems that the

         13  Board is proposing that to be in the program the cap

         14  on how much you should spend should be decreased.

         15  Your concern, I think being that the amount of money

         16  is going up because there's the availability of

         17  public money.

         18                 MS. GORDON:  To some degree, yes.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  Right.  And

         20  that may or may not be accurate.  I guess I have a

         21  concern that I think there are other factors which

         22  drive up the cost of campaigns separate and apart

         23  from the public money and that taking the amount you

         24  can spend down, which on some level controls how

         25  much public money gets given, doesn't address those
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          2  other factors.                I'm concerned that if

          3  you take the amount down it's actually going to have

          4  a negative impact in ability, particularly maybe

          5  even challengers' abilities to get their message out

          6  there.

          7                 You know, postage has gone up,

          8  staffing costs have gone up, rents have gone up, all

          9  of which have nothing to do with the availability of

         10  public money.  I just don't know that that is an

         11  ideal.  Obviously we need to talk and think about it

         12  a lot more but an idea that immediately jumps to me

         13  as a sound one.  I would wonder whether the, you

         14  know, the Board looked at -- I mean, you referenced

         15  the difference in districts and expense in

         16  districts.  I guess also in voter turnout and

         17  participation in districts and how much you have to

         18  mail and things like that.  Was there any

         19  consideration of that?  Did you try to skew the

         20  numbers

         21  to this is the amount that the most expensive,

         22  highest voter turnout district would need for a

         23  viable race?  And then if it's more than the others

         24  needed so be it.  But then you haven't like

         25  shortchanged somebody's ability.
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          2                 MS. GORDON:  Just to be clear about

          3  the Board's history and methodology, in the past the

          4  Board has increased -- has recommended increases in

          5  the amounts of public funds available and increases

          6  in expenditures and so on, so it's not like there's

          7  some direction.  It's more a case- by- case basis

          8  going after each election to -- these are all

          9  factors that have to be looked at each time around

         10  and see how things are going.

         11                 One thing to just keep in mind.

         12  First of all, the spending limits are always hedged

         13  to inflation.  So whatever number is in the law at a

         14  given time, it automatically increases each time

         15  out.  When you consolidate the limits in the actual

         16  election year, and my colleague, Amy Loprest, could

         17  perhaps address this for you, when you look at what

         18  most of the reductions are you're talked about the

         19  difference is not as great as what it may sound like

         20  on paper.

         21                 Amy, maybe you would like to explain.

         22                 MS. LOPREST:  Part of the Board's

         23  recommendation was to consoli -- to simplify the

         24  expenditure limits by consolidating the limits from

         25  the out years, so the years in the previous -- but
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          2  when you look at the actual numbers that are

          3  recommended for the election cycle it would be that

          4  for the primary the current expenditure limit is

          5  $150,000 and the Board's recommendation would be

          6  that the expenditure limit would now be $146,000 for

          7  City Council candidates.  The reason the numbers

          8  come out so much is because the Board as part of its

          9  recommendations to simplify the program is

         10  recommending eliminating all, you know,

         11  consolidating all of those pre- election year

         12  expenditure limits into one limit.  So the actual

         13  numbers during the year are not really that much

         14  lower than they were in the past.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  Thank you.

         16  This is something I'm sure we'll have much to talk

         17  about.  Thanks for that additional information.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Let me ask a

         19  question in that same vein.  You indicated that you

         20  had some sense that expenditures were going up

         21  because of the availability of money.  I know

         22  there's been some concern expressed, that there's a

         23  whole new industry developing around the elections

         24  now because of the availability of these campaign

         25  finances, is that what you're alluding to?
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          2                 MS. GORDON:  I don't know whether --

          3  I don't know that it's -- I think campaigns have to

          4  decide for themselves how they want to spend their

          5  money.  But what I would point out, for example, is

          6  this:   At the end of the election we ask the

          7  candidates to provide us with information about so-

          8  called qualified expenditures to show that public

          9  funds were used for purposes that they're permitted

         10  under the law.  We're finding what we did not find

         11  in the past, we're finding that because the

         12  proportion of public funds is higher now, we're

         13  finding that candidates are having a much harder

         14  time justifying their expenditures in terms of

         15  qualified expenditures.  That's one thing that leads

         16  us to question whether the candidates need as much

         17  money as they have been using for those campaign,

         18  those narrow campaign purposes that must be -- that

         19  can be paid for with public funds.  So, you know,

         20  that's just one example.

         21                 But I think the other thing is if you

         22  look at the one election cycle before it and you see

         23  what the average cost even in competitive campaigns

         24  is and then you compare it with the next election,

         25  you see the disparity is fairly large and that's
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          2  exactly what I wanted to say before. That's good

          3  news because you can argue that the old elections

          4  were not competitive but the question arose when

          5  people felt they were getting lots of the same

          6  mailings, you know, very close to the end of the

          7  election cycle much more than they had ever seen

          8  before, more than they maybe thought was needed for

          9  campaigns.  Now, I know that's not a candidate's

         10  perspective.  I'm sure from the candidate's

         11  perspective, in a way, there can never be such

         12  things as too high an expenditure limit.  The Board,

         13  as I say, on other occasions has made other kinds of

         14  recommendations.  It was just after this election

         15  cycle with the large amounts of public funds going

         16  out, which largely was a healthy thing, the Board

         17  questioned whether all that money was really needed

         18  and whether it was all being spent in a way that was

         19  reasonably required.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Do you take

         21  voter turnout analysis to see what impact the

         22  program is having in terms of people actually going

         23  out and voting?

         24                 MS. GORDON:  We've looked at that and

         25  we've also look at something else which I think is
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          2  pretty interesting, too, and that is the

          3  competitiveness of the races in terms of the

          4  differential in the number of votes or the

          5  percentage of votes received by winner and losers.

          6  These are all very interesting studies.

          7  Unfortunately variables in elections are always so

          8  extreme that it's very hard to know what to make of

          9  them.  For example, this year we had September 11th

         10  on Primary Day.               Now, I thought the

         11  press did not do the public a service because it

         12  sounded from the press as though voter turnout on

         13  Primary Day was not very high but, in fact, voter

         14  turnout on Primary Day, even though it had been

         15  moved by two weeks, was on the healthy side this

         16  past election and I think it was largely because of

         17  the Council races that energized voters and got them

         18  out and people who had been prepared to vote went

         19  out and did it anyway.  But I would be -- I think

         20  I'd be overstepping what we really do know if I were

         21  to make any claims about voter participation.

         22            I believe that the program helps that.  I

         23  think there was a healthy turnout in the last

         24  election in large part because of the amount of

         25  money that candidates, especially at the Council
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          2  level, were able to spend and energize their

          3  communities.  But I can't prove that and I don't

          4  want to pretend that I can.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  I guess the

          6  reason I asked is that, you know, one of the good

          7  things about the program is that campaigns are

          8  getting better and the public, therefore, is

          9  benefitting from -- is becoming more informed about

         10  the issues and about the candidates and that's a

         11  good thing.  I would hope would be the intention,

         12  one of the intentions.  Give me some examples of the

         13  kinds of expenditures that you've noticed over time

         14  that perhaps were not acceptable or appropriate,

         15  that maybe you think this new legislation might

         16  eliminate.  You understand the question?

         17                 MS. GORDON:   Yes.  What we see most

         18  often in the audit process is a failure to document

         19  qualified expenditures.  That's probably the biggest

         20  category.  But one thing I think that you might

         21  focus on a little bit is that the average cost of a

         22  Council -- the average spending in a Council

         23  district for the primary was about $90,000. And when

         24  you compare that with a spending limit that's 150,

         25  $160,000, then the question has to be asked why the
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          2  disparity?  And I think what the Board was trying to

          3  do was, to some degree, answer that and say maybe

          4  that expenditure limit is on the high side and not

          5  every campaign needs to spend that kind of money,

          6  and that was the result of that inquiry.  The

          7  population of most Council districts I think is more

          8  or less the same.  So things like printing and

          9  mailing costs ought to be fairly standard.  Things

         10  that are different are things like real estate, you

         11  know, for a storefront and, of course, other kinds

         12  of costs like that. But it's really --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Different

         14  campaigns. You know, some campaigns are more

         15  competitive.  You have to do more printing.  Some

         16  campaigns are less competitive and it varies per

         17  campaign.  For instance, I may have had one campaign

         18  that was very, very competitive and this time I may

         19  have one that's even more competitive.

         20                 MS. GORDON:  Well, I would just say

         21  if you --

         22                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  I hope not.  Be

         23  that as it may, I'm just trying to get a grip on how

         24  you came to this 'cause it's a very intriguing thing

         25   'cause on one hand the essence of it is that you're
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          2  trying to save money that doesn't have to be spent.

          3  And quite naturally in this time of fiscal crisis,

          4  we want to join you in that regard, but on the other

          5  hand, it's almost touching on a counter sort of

          6  productive thing from the perspective of what we

          7  wanted the campaigns to do.  We need to sort of

          8  refine that, I guess.

          9                 MS. GORDON:  I would just emphasize,

         10  though, that if you're not inclined to move the

         11  expenditure limit down, then I think you certainly

         12  can't move the matching rate down.  The reason I say

         13  that is that the matching rate is what protects the

         14  people from less affluent neighborhoods and the

         15  people with less access to money and the expenditure

         16   -- the more the expenditure limit is higher than

         17  what the candidate can get out of the matching funds

         18  program, the more it favors candidates who have

         19  access to large contributors, who come from

         20  wealthier backgrounds or have access.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Thank you very

         22  much. Council Member Gallagher?

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER:  Thank you,

         24  Mr. Chairman.  Thank you for your testimony today.

         25  I just have a few questions to ask you.  First of
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          2  all, just check and see if my statistics are right.

          3  In the 2001 City Council race there were what, 301

          4  participants in the program or approximately.  I

          5  think that a certain percentage didn't make it on

          6  the ballot so I guess it was about 240 that made it

          7  on the ballot?

          8                 MS. GORDON:  Over 350 people joined

          9  the program and 280 of those --

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER:  I'm sorry,

         11  for City Council.

         12                 MS. GORDON:  Just for City Council?

         13  I don't know if I have those numbers off the top of

         14   -- I'm sorry, that may be correct, I just don't

         15  have that information at hand.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER:  And for

         17  this year it's substantially less?

         18                 MS. GORDON:  Yes, it is less this

         19  year.  And as you may know, we have sent word to the

         20  Council and to the Mayor that the Board has reduced

         21  its public funds estimate based on the number of

         22  candidates who opted in on the opt- in deadline.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER:  Do you

         24  think that that is occurring because term limits was

         25  the number one stimulus for having more people run

                                                            39

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2  rather than campaign financing?

          3                 MS. GORDON:  I think it was a

          4  combination.  I believe that the fact that term

          5  limits encouraged a lot of candidates to run.  I

          6  think that the matching funds program made it

          7  possible for them to run competitive campaigns.

          8  That's my own subjective judgment and I don't know

          9  if there's any way to --

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER:  So if

         11  that's the case, would we have anticipated that

         12  there probably would have been approximately the

         13  same number that would be running again for public

         14  office this year?

         15                 MS. GORDON:  I --

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER:  Have you

         17  ever done a survey that questions the participants

         18  as to what was their --

         19                 MS. GORDON:  Yes, we do.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER:   And was

         21  the question asked whether it was term limits or

         22  whether it was campaign financing?

         23                 MS. GORDON:  We asked them -- we did

         24  do a survey asking people about these kinds of

         25  things. Unfortunately we did not get a very large --
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          2  we did not get a robust response, so I don't have an

          3  answer for you on that question.  But I know a lot

          4  of candidates who have testified -- I mean this in

          5  an informal way -- have testified to the fact that

          6  they would not have run and could not have run a

          7  meaningful campaign without the presence of the

          8  program.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER:  Okay.  I'm

         10  going to ask you to do me a favor.  I know that

         11  Chairman Perkins asked you a question before and I

         12  just want you to, if you can, review it, especially

         13  for some of my colleagues who might not have been

         14  here earlier, in your testimony you're calling and

         15  favoring a 3 to 1.

         16                 MS. GORDON:  As part of a package of

         17  other reforms --

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER:  All right.

         19                 MS. GORDON:  -- But not all by

         20  itself.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER:  Okay.  And

         22  you say in your testimony and I'll quote, "The Board

         23  cannot support the recommendation made in Intro. 291

         24  seeking to reduce the matching rate from 4 to 1 to 2

         25  to 1.  The Board believes would seriously impair a
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          2  challenger's ability to mount a comparative campaign

          3  as well as the ability of candidates with less

          4  access to monied resources to compete effectively."

          5  Why isn't that true then for the 3 to 1?

          6                 MS. GORDON:  Well, as I said, that's

          7  part of the package of other reforms that we believe

          8  would continue to protect challengers and people

          9  from less affluent districts.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER:  So if we

         11  make some amendments to 291 and left it at 2 to 1,

         12  would you be inclined or would you consider support?

         13                 MS. GORDON:  I doubt it and I'll tell

         14  you -- I'll explain my reasoning.  I doubt it,

         15  although I can't speak for the Board without having

         16  presented it to them, but years ago the match was 1

         17  to 1.  It was found that that was entirely

         18  inadequate for City Council races in particular. The

         19  Board recommended a 3 to l; the City Council adopted

         20  4 to 1.  The 4 to 1 worked extremely well in many

         21  ways.  The Board examined what it thought was a very

         22  successful set of elections and felt that there

         23  were, I would call them, minor adjustments that

         24  could be made to improve it.  I think the Board

         25  views the 3 to 1 as a modest change.  I think it
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          2  would be the 2 to 1 as a major change.  I think

          3  that's the difference.  As I say --

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER:  I just

          5  want to go on record that I think that in this

          6  fiscal climate when we are looking all across this

          7  city and we have already seen the closing of

          8  firehouses, the elimination of senior centers, the

          9  problems that we have seen in our classroom and all

         10  the other things that we are looking to do in this

         11  city budget, I think the 2 to 1 is more than

         12  reasonable, and it's 2 to 1 for all, so I believe

         13  that that creates a level playing field.  That's my

         14  opinion and I'm hopeful, and I know a number of my

         15  colleagues have signed onto this law and I hope that

         16  we can move forward on it.

         17                 Let me ask you a question with

         18  regards to right now if you win you primary election

         19  and you had a minor party candidate who is on maybe

         20  the Conservative Party, Working Families Party and

         21  traditionally a minor party candidate may get 4 or

         22  5% of the total vote.  Do you still give matching

         23  funds for the general election?

         24                 MS. GORDON:  The program gives

         25  matching funds to any candidate who meets the
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          2  threshold regardless of how they performed in a

          3  previous election or in the next election.  So you

          4  could qualify to bet matching funds and get a very

          5  small portion of the vote afterwards.  You could

          6  fail to qualify and not get matching funds and do

          7  very well.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER:  So if the

          9  electoral history shows that a minor party candidate

         10  will get between 4% to 6% of the vote, we're giving

         11  candidates in the general election a full 75,400

         12  for-

         13                 MS. GORDON:  If they qualify for

         14  matching funds, they qualify for matching funds.  I

         15  don't think that you'll find that the record is that

         16  people who get 3 and 4% of the vote got matching

         17  funds, but you could look at those numbers and find

         18  ut the answer to that question.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER:  Is anyone

         20  who's with you know -- have an answer to that

         21  question?

         22                 MS. GORDON:  I just want to see what

         23  my --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  While we're

         25  waiting.
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          2                 MS. GORDON:  I think your question,

          3  you're questioning whether someone who only garnered

          4  a small percentage of the vote ought to be getting

          5  public funds or a large amount of public funds.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER:  If I am,

          7  as a Republican, if I win my Republican primary and

          8  I see I don't have a Democratic opponent in the

          9  general election, but I have maybe a Working

         10  Families or Conservative Party candidate where

         11  traditionally the vote for that party, political

         12  party, does not garner more than 5% of the total

         13  vote, if it does that.  In most cases it would be

         14  even less. I will be entitled to a full 75,000?

         15                 MS. GORDON:  I misunderstood your

         16  question. I thought you were asking about the minor

         17  party candidate getting -- you're asking whether the

         18  major candidate should be getting money.  That's a

         19  very serious issue, not just necessarily in terms of

         20  what the amount of money -- the amount of votes are,

         21  but you may be aware that the City Council recently

         22  in its last round of legislation attempted to

         23  address this in the following way which may not be

         24  perfect but it's I think a step.  What that

         25  legislation does now is that if you are opposed by a
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          2  candidate who does not raise or spend a significant

          3  amount of money, you must write a letter for the

          4  public record that says why you should be entitled

          5  to get public funds up to the max.  It's a very

          6  difficult problem that the Board is very concerned

          7  about, this whole problem of candidates getting

          8  funds who are faced by nominal opponents.

          9                 Unfortunately it's a very difficult

         10  problem to address because there are candidates who

         11  have a lot of name recognition and could be

         12  formidable candidates even if they don't spend a lot

         13  of money.  There are other candidates who, even an

         14  incumbent, I supposed, might be able to run a very

         15  small campaign and win without spending a lot of

         16  money. There are lots of circumstances or even a

         17  situation as we're going to have now and we've had

         18  in the past.  The Borough President, Virginia

         19  Fields, was opposed by somebody of the same last

         20  name, somebody now, I think it's a City Council

         21  member's going to be opposed by somebody with the

         22  same last name, you can't imagine all the

         23  circumstances where money may or may not be needed

         24  and it's very difficult -- I don't think you want

         25  this Campaign Finance --
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER:  Those

          3  incidents that you're referring to are all

          4  Democratic primaries, correct, but not related to

          5  the question that I'm bringing forth --

          6                 MS. GORDON:  The only reason I think

          7  they are -- I think they are related to the question

          8  that you're raising because the way we phrase the

          9  question is what about candidates getting money who

         10  are faced by nominal opposition, opposition that

         11  isn't really very strong.  It doesn't appear to be

         12  very strong to most political observers.  I don't

         13  think that the Board can be in a position to judge

         14  when that happens.  If the Board is going to choose

         15   --

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER:  I for one

         17  would not argue if there's a Democratic primary that

         18  that's nominal.  What my point is, is that if you

         19  have someone in a minor party where traditionally

         20  that votes gets in a general election between 2 to

         21  5% in some instances, that whether or not we in

         22  government should be giving 75,000 plus dollars to a

         23  person -- a major party candidate.

         24                 One other question.  If I was

         25  involved, say there was a primary in my district and
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          2  two Conservative Party candidates were having a

          3  primary, are they entitled to the full 75,000?

          4                 MS. GORDON:  No, not anymore.  That

          5  was changed in the recent Council legislation.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER:  What are

          7  their limits?

          8                 MS. GORDON:  The limit is -- it

          9  depends on -- how much?  It's $10,000 if the number

         10  of eligible voters is below a certain number and I

         11  don't know what that number is in any given

         12  district.  It's a thousand -- you have to have at

         13  least 1,000 eligible voters in the district in order

         14  to be able to receive more than $10,000.  That was a

         15  change that was made in this last round and it was

         16  something the Board had recommended and that the

         17  City Council agreed with and it was passed.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER:  Okay.

         19  Now, what would your estimates be in savings if we

         20  went from 4 to 1 to 2 to 1 for the 2003 elections

         21  and for the 2005 elections?

         22                 MS. GORDON:  We probably can do that

         23  analysis, maybe even have done it.  I don't have it

         24  before me but I'll be happy to send it to you.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER:  Did you do
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          2  an analysis on the 3 to 1?

          3                 MS. GORDON:  We did, but we did it in

          4  the context again of these other changes and that's

          5  part of the problem.  Let me just explain one of the

          6  difficulties in doing this analysis.  Candidates who

          7  max out at the 4 to 1 rate may well max out at the 3

          8  to 1 rate because candidates will use the resources

          9  that they have obviously to the best effect.  So

         10  it's very difficult to say that any given matching

         11  rate, how much that would change the amount of money

         12  that candidates get.  What changes the amount of

         13  money that candidates will get is the cap on the

         14  ultimate amount of public funds and, of course, the

         15  numbers of candidates who run.  And that's how we do

         16  our budget estimates for the most part.  But I can

         17  send you information and I will when I get back to

         18  my office.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER:  If you can

         20  provide it to the Chairman, that would be

         21  appreciated.

         22                 MS. GORDON:  I'd be happy to do that.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER:  Thank you,

         24  Mr. Chairman.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Thank you.  I
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          2  want to recognize again Council Member David Yassky.

          3    He is the sponsor of Reso. No. 552 which we're

          4  going to be hearing some testimony on today, which

          5  basically urges the Governor and the State

          6  Legislature to pass the Clean Money, Clean Act --

          7  Clean Elections Act.  So what I would like to do is

          8  give him an opportunity to say some opening remarks.

          9    I know he has another hearing with the Contracts

         10  Committee, so if we can give him a chance now.

         11  Councilman Yassky?

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Yes,

         13  Chairperson. Thank you very much.  I simply wanted

         14  to thank you for holding this hearing on what I

         15  think is a supremely important topic.  It really is

         16  kind of fundamental to democracy but the city's

         17  campaign system, which is your primary focus, but

         18  also the state's.

         19                 As you said, I have introduced Res.

         20  552 which calls on the State Legislature to pass the

         21  Clean Money/Clean Elections bill.  It's Assembly

         22  3453 and Senate 3440.  In this the waning days of

         23  the session, I'm not going to say I'm very hopeful

         24  that these bills are going to be passed this

         25  session, but I nonetheless think that the Council
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          2  can speed forward to the day when campaign finance

          3  reform will come to Albany by passing Res. 552 and

          4  formally asking the State Legislature to clean up

          5  the state system.

          6                 New York City has, as you know, Mr.

          7  Chair, the very best campaign finance system in the

          8  country and I think the result is a better, cleaner

          9  government for the people of the city.  The state,

         10  on the other hand, has, I think, one of the worst

         11  campaign finance laws and as a result the state

         12  government does not function as well as it could.

         13                 These bills, I won't go into the

         14  details of what the state bills do, but they would

         15  give the state a system much like the city's with

         16  contribution limits, in fact, somewhat stronger

         17  because they're mandatory, but also a voluntary

         18  system of public funding.  I very much hope that the

         19  Council will go on record supporting these bills.

         20                 Mr. Chair, I would just say one word

         21  on the topic that you've focused on today which are

         22   -- is the city system.  Again, I think it is

         23  improved our democracy measurably to have the

         24  Campaign Finance Board and the program that it

         25  administers on the -- I will say for the benefit of
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          2  Miss Gordon that I, for one, could support further

          3  measures to limit the amount of funds available in

          4  certain general elections.  I know that there's a

          5  problem, an issue that you've been working on and

          6  you alluded to, it's a difficult one because in many

          7  cases, general elections are not terribly

          8  competitive and so the argument for public funds,

          9  taxpayer dollars being spent is a weak one.

         10                 On the other hand, there are general

         11  elections that are quite competitive and we want to

         12  make sure that money does not have too much of an

         13  influence in those cases and it cannot be your --

         14  you cannot be in the business, of course, of

         15  deciding, you know, on yourself, case by case, which

         16  are the competitive and which are the non-

         17  competitives.  And if you have to, I urge to err on

         18  the side of clean elections and democracy even if

         19  that means a program that winds up providing funding

         20  in some cases where it isn't really strictly

         21  necessary.

         22                 But I think you might be able to go

         23  even further than you have perhaps by asking

         24  candidates to certify or giving candidates an

         25  opportunity to certify that they're going to spend
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          2  less than a certain amount of money. And in a race

          3  where a general election where no candidate is --

          4  where every candidate save one certifies they're

          5  going to spend less than $15,000, or whatever number

          6  you view to be appropriate, that then less matching

          7  funds would be available.

          8                 You raise the case of somebody who

          9  has high name recognition and so forth.  I think

         10  that might be one where you could err on the side of

         11  saving money.  There would be, at least one Council

         12  member says, there would be. I would support

         13  something like that.  So I just want to put that

         14  idea for you.

         15                 The last thing, Mr. Chair, I want to,

         16  since I'm a visitor to your committee, I'll take

         17  this opportunity to say that I hope that in the

         18  future you will consider continuing your work on

         19  expanding the reach of our campaign finance system.

         20  I, as you know, enthusiastically support the bill

         21  that you introduced to close what I think is really

         22  a loophole in our campaign finance system in that it

         23  does not apply to charter reform proposals.  I,

         24  together, join you in introducing that measure and I

         25  strongly support it and look forward to further
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          2  progress on it.

          3                 I will be in the future introducing

          4  or putting before you a proposal that will close

          5  another loophole which is judicial elections.  The

          6  current campaign finance system does not apply to

          7  judicial elections and, as we see every day, I think

          8  there is real potential for abuse in some of those

          9  elections and I think this would be one way to clean

         10  some of that up.

         11                 So with those thoughts, Mr. Chair, I

         12  just want to say again thank you so much for your

         13  really outstanding leadership on this issue and I

         14  look forward to supporting you any way I can.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Thank you very

         16  much. Do you want to respond to the reso or anything

         17  that he said?

         18                 MS. GORDON:  We're just pleased to

         19  enjoy the support in general of the campaign finance

         20  reform.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Thank you.

         22  Thank you very much, Councilman Yassky.

         23                 Let me ask a question or two.  With

         24  regard to expenditures, there are some categories of

         25  exempt deletions, deleted in your proposed
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          2  legislation?  Expenditures.

          3                 MS. GORDON:  Our proposal was to

          4  delete most categories of exempt expenditures and to

          5  have an overall cap that would cover virtually

          6  everything with some exceptions like petitioning

          7  costs, but that it would get away from the idea of a

          8  lot of exempt expenditures.  You may recall that the

          9  new legislation that's in effect now had a 7 1/2%

         10  safe harbor for exempt expenditures that need not be

         11  documented to the degree that they would under other

         12  circumstances.

         13  Our proposal, as I say, would be a little different

         14  from that because it would have a complete coverage.

         15    It wouldn't have a 7 1/2% or --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  What exempt

         17  expenditures are we deleting?

         18                 MS. GORDON:  Really everything except

         19  petition costs, legal fees and petitions and

         20  canvassing. Those are the categories.  And that was

         21  particularly influenced by the fact that we have

         22  such a high degree of election litigation in New

         23  York City that I think it's unequaled by any other

         24  jurisdiction.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  This obviously
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          2  will have an impact on the expenditure cap.

          3                 MS. GORDON:  That's correct.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  It will lower

          5  the expenditure cap.

          6                 MS. GORDON:  In effect it lowers the

          7  expenditure cap and when that number is arrived at,

          8  it has

          9  to account for the fact that exempt expenditures

         10  will no longer be available.  That has to be

         11  something that's in the thinking as the number's

         12  arrived at, definitely.

         13                 MALE SPEAKER:  Welcome.  I was

         14  thinking the Council is in sort of an interesting

         15  position in that if we go to maintain the 4 to 1

         16  there may be -- it may appear as self- serving, and

         17  if we go to cut it, it may appear as if we're trying

         18  to hate the competition.  So that's just one

         19  observation with that.

         20                 3 to 1, 6 to 1, I think it would be a

         21  great compromise overall, especially if you have

         22  some -- could be a billionaire running against

         23  somebody or it could be a measly multi- millionaire

         24  where you would have to raise more money as well.

         25                 I was wondering if you had an
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          2  instrument of measurement should we go froward with

          3  this?  A minor party runs somebody but yet the

          4  person, the candidate, had fairly decent name

          5  recognition, let's say Curtis Slewah (phonetic) or

          6  Gene Rashional (phonetic) or somebody, how do we --

          7  this would be an interesting scenario, wouldn't it?

          8                 MS. GORDON:  It's a very difficult

          9  problem and I know it's something that's very

         10  troubling to the Board and anyone who attended the

         11  Board's hearings after the last election knows that

         12  I think virtually every witness who came to appear

         13  before the Board was asked that question about what

         14  to do about public funds going to candidates who

         15  opposed by nominal candidates.

         16                 I think what you've just said is

         17  right.  I think that if you have someone with great

         18  name recognition, certainly from the candidate's

         19  point of view, that may not seem like nominal

         20  opposition and the Board really struggled to try to

         21  come up with some defining factor and really, since

         22  the Board cannot be in the position of making some

         23  kind of a subjective judgment, it would have to be

         24  something like the amount of money that's being

         25  raised.  I mean, that's the only thing that anybody
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          2  I think so far has come up with that would be

          3  feasible.  And yet we've seen serious candidates who

          4  never met the threshold and we've seen candidates

          5  who met the threshold and weren't very serious. So

          6  it's something we'll continually study and

          7  continually try to come up with a good solution to

          8  it.

          9                 I think the Council's recent

         10  legislations are very interesting and a good first

         11  step because in a way it does shine the light on

         12  candidates and force them to justify

         13  what they're doing and at least that way there can

         14  be comment on it by the public.  It's not for the

         15  Board to comment, but maybe the public has a vision

         16  about it.  I don't really -- I wish I had something

         17  more concrete to offer, but at this point we haven't

         18  been able to come up with anything better than what

         19  the Council came up with which I think is a very

         20  interesting and good first step to try to control

         21  this.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER:  Yeah, it

         23  wasn't a banana peel thrown out.  It was like how

         24  can you come across some instrument of measurement

         25  in this particular area. Once we journey into that
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          2  area it's a slippery slope at best.

          3                 MS. GORDON:  Exactly.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER:  Thank you.

          5  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Thank you.

          7  Council Member Madeline Provenzano.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO:  Thank

          9  you, Mr. Chair.

         10                 First a followup to Council Member

         11  Gallagher's questions.  Would you have any

         12  information on how many individuals that received in

         13  the area of 80% of the vote in a general election --

         14  well, first of all, how many candidates received 80%

         15  of the vote in the general election, which would be

         16  in the last Council race?

         17                 Second question, how many still

         18  received matching funds.  I'm sure you understand

         19  the significance of the question.

         20                 MS. GORDON:  Sure.  I don't have an

         21  immediate answer.  I don't know -- I don't know how

         22  usual it is for candidates to get that high a

         23  percentage of the vote.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO:  Well,

         25  there are some numbers that are basically Democrat
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          2  or basically Republican where you know that's the

          3  way it's going to be.

          4                 MS. GORDON:  Right.  We can get those

          5  numbers

          6  and send them to you for sure.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO:  Okay.

          8  I'd like to spend a little time, first of all, on

          9  Council Member Gallagher's bill which I am also a

         10  sponsor of.  You talked about the 3 to 1 match, how

         11  you would prefer not to reduce it lower than 3 to 1

         12  because it would adversely affect those folks who

         13  might be of lower income or lower poverty areas or

         14  what have you.  I respectfully disagree.

         15                 I get the impression sometimes that

         16  you think that every candidate that runs is good and

         17  wonderful and honest and is really opting in because

         18  they want matching funds because they feel they are

         19  a legitimate candidate.  In many Council races where

         20  you have six to seven candidates there are

         21  candidates who are opting in because they can get

         22  the money and spend the money.  They don't really

         23  care whether they win or lose.  I would like to

         24  think that you're aware of that.

         25                 I think what's happening is, and it
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          2  will happen more and more if we leave this at 3 to

          3  1, 4 to 1, 5 to 1, 6 to 1, you'll have more and more

          4  candidates, and I put that in quotes, who are there

          5  strictly for the game, for the sport of the game.

          6  They really don't care, as I said, if they win or

          7  lose.  They can get -- they suddenly have a friend

          8  who is now a consultant.  They have a brother- in-

          9  law who's now an accountant.  So this money gets

         10  spread around.

         11  That leads me to my question on expenditures and

         12  monitoring expenditures.

         13                 You spoke about some changes to

         14  expenditures, but they're mostly around caps.  I'm

         15  more concerned about

         16  monitoring expenditures per se.  We seem to be very

         17  concerned about where money comes from, who you're

         18  getting it from.  I'm very concerned about where the

         19  money goes to and how you're spending it, how you

         20  can spend $10,000 on a computer.  I use city money

         21  in my office.  I would never spend $10,000 on a

         22  computer.  That city money is not my money and money

         23  you get from campaign finance is not your money

         24  either.  I think we're losing the sight of making

         25  people responsible for the money that they're
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          2  getting from campaign finance.  Basically it's not

          3  their money, it's the taxpayers' money.  I don't

          4  care how I spend it.  I think that has to be

          5  monitored more closely and I'm interested in how you

          6  would go about doing that.

          7                 MS. GORDON:  I want to thank you for

          8  raising those issues because I think they do get

          9  lost in the discussion.  I think they're very

         10  important issues and I would like to assure you that

         11  the Board and the Board staff are very aware of

         12  these problems and very concerned about them.

         13  You're describing some of the nightmare scenarios

         14  and we have seen those.  As you know, there are

         15  people who have been indicted and convicted because

         16  of the kinds of abuses that you're talking about.

         17                 I think that, first of all, there are

         18  some strictures in the law that protect against some

         19  of the things that you're describing.  For example,

         20  you can't pay family members, for example, for

         21  services or goods.  Maybe there ought to be more.

         22  We do survey what candidates spend. We do make

         23  grids, for example, that yield for us what average

         24  costs ought to be, what we would expect to see and

         25  you do have to be looking at market value and so on.
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          2    People ought not to be paying higher than market

          3  value, obviously, and we do look for those things

          4  and we question candidates about them.

          5                 I don't think I am reaching the core

          6  of your problem, though, and I don't know how it can

          7  fully be reached because I am distressed to say that

          8  after having been working at this position for 14

          9  years I now -- I don't have the rosy picture that

         10  you think I may have.  I think there's a serious

         11  problem here and I think that the big question is

         12  how to look at the aggregate and say is this program

         13  being abused or is it doing something good for the

         14  public  I don't think there's any way physically

         15  ever for any public works program to completely

         16  stamp out every misuse or every overuse of public

         17  money.  I think we do a very, very rigorous audit of

         18  every candidate who gets public funds and I think

         19  most of them would probably, in a different way from

         20  your reaction, be very -- would say that the audit

         21  is more rigorous than it has to be.  But it's a very

         22  rigorous audit process and these questions are

         23  raised.

         24  We do our very best to minimize whatever fault there

         25  may be with the program or the way that the
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          2  candidates may be spending money.  We're not foolish

          3  to think that we can catch every possible instance,

          4  but I think in the end it's for New Yorkers to judge

          5  whether in the aggregate most of- the vast majority

          6  of this money is going for the right purposes and

          7  that I believe we are as effective as we can be

          8  short of maybe additional changes to the law at

          9  preventing the public money from being misused.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO:  Thank

         11  you.  I really appreciate you stating that you

         12  understand 'cause there was a time where I was not

         13  so sure.  You know, I think this program started out

         14  to be a good government thing and I would hate to

         15  see it turn into some kind of a scam, which it could

         16  very -- and again, I mean, there are wonderful

         17  candidates out there, good, honest, you know, folks,

         18  but there is a certain segment of the population

         19  that could and is and would definitely use this to

         20  another kind of advantage.

         21                 I would hoe that as you're trying to

         22  revise your rules and regulations that you would

         23  keep this in mind and instead of doing less

         24  monitoring of expenditures, maybe be more aware of

         25  the kinds of things that money might be spent on.
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          2                 MS. GORDON:  We certainly welcome

          3  your interest in this and your comments.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO:  Thank

          5  you.

          6                 MS. GORDON:  Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  I'm going to go

          8  back to another -- an earlier question related to

          9  the number of contributors.  I'm reading in the

         10  bill, I guess it's Section 4, Subdivision 2.  It

         11  reads member of the City Council -- no.  It goes

         12  from 50 to 100 matchable contributions of $10 or

         13  more for residents of the district in which the seat

         14  is to be filled, except that in regularly scheduled

         15  City Council elections held in the year 2003, at

         16  least 75 will go into 100 matchable contributions of

         17  $10.  Is that -- am I to understand that you want

         18  the number to go up or --

         19                 MS. GORDON:  Yes.  You're absolutely

         20  right. Increase the number of contributors needed to

         21  reach the threshold.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Okay.  So it

         23  changes the answer you gave before.

         24                 MS. GORDON:  I'm sorry.  I don't

         25  think I fully understood what you were saying
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          2  before.  I was thinking about the change in the law

          3  to be 75 this year for City Council candidates

          4  because of redistricting.  It used to be 50.  I

          5  mean, the law says 50 in general and it was changed

          6  in this last round to be 75 just for the

          7  redistricting but it gave you the opportunity to go

          8  to the whole borough and not just to your district.

          9  So that, you know --

         10                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Now you want it

         11  go to 100.

         12                 MS. GORDON:  This is -- the reason

         13  for this is that the Board's judgment is that in a

         14  Council district the requirement that you need only

         15  50 contributors in order to meet the threshold from

         16  your own district seems quite low and that a serious

         17  candidate ought to be able to reach 100

         18  contributors.  That's the Board's judgment.  We do

         19  see candidates who have a very -- interestingly when

         20  candidates are running for office and they don't

         21  meet the threshold, it is more often because they

         22  can't get enough residents from their community to

         23  give them a contribution than it is because they

         24  don't meet the absolute number.  In other words,

         25  they're able to collect money that meets the
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          2  threshold in terms of the monetary amount but

          3  they're not as able to get local residents to, so to

          4  speak, vote with a contribution.  The Board's

          5  judgment was that a hundred people in your

          6  community, in your district, is a reasonable number.

          7    The law right now says 50 except for this year.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  So you have

          9  found that with the number 50 people could not

         10  quality.

         11                 MS. GORDON:  Some people can't

         12  qualify.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  And so now

         14  you're raising it to a hundred.

         15                 MS. GORDON:  Well, the people -- what

         16  I'm saying is I don't think the conclusion -- I

         17  think the concern is that people are getting public

         18  funds who really don't have a lot of community

         19  support and the fact that they can reach the

         20  threshold that easily with only 50 contributors

         21  seems low for residents of their distinct to meet

         22  that.  There are two parts to the threshold.  One is

         23  the number of contributors from your district and

         24  the other is a monetary amount.  That seems very low

         25  to the Board. The Board agrees with the previous
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          2  judgment that no one who gets less than 50 ought to

          3  receive public funds.  But the Board is going to in

          4  a different direction, suggesting that you ought to

          5  be able to reach a hundred people.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Okay.  Well,

          7  I'm going to turn my colleagues that have other

          8  questions, but this is the -- this is not the

          9  science that we're talking about now.

         10  This is more of --

         11                 MS. GORDON:  To be sure.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  -- The other

         13  stuff.

         14                 MS. GORDON:  To be sure.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  That --

         16                 MS. GORDON:  I think the --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  That's a touchy

         18  area for me because it becomes too artistic, too

         19  intuitive, too potentially political whenever you

         20  have these kinds of ways of determining standards

         21  that are not based on studies or science of some

         22  sort.  So in that vein let me now just turn to my

         23  colleague, Mr. Gallagher.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO:  He's --

         25                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  He's hard to
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          2  find?

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO:  Yes.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Of course.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO:  Surprise,

          6  surprise.  I agree with you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  You want to

          8  repeat that for the record?

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO:  I agree

         10  with you. I agree with you, Nicole.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  This is the

         12  second time you've --

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO:  But I

         14  think if you're a candidate in a community and you

         15  want to run in a community, I would hope that you

         16  would know at least a hundred people that are behind

         17  you that would also like to see you run.  And that

         18  eliminates folks just, you know, coming in, and we

         19  know it happens, and saying, hey, I'm going to run

         20  against, you know, Freddie Smith and he doesn't know

         21  enough people.  So I think raising the bar is a good

         22  idea.  And you know what?  It should be easy.  If

         23  you're a community person, you've been involved in

         24  your community, you have a back -- a history of

         25  doing community work, you could have a hundred

                                                            69

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2  people that want to give you $10. Thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Thank you.

          4  Council Member Gallagher.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER:  Thank you.

          6    Just one last thing and it's not even a question,

          7  it's actually a request.  In your testimony you said

          8  the Board's recommendations are based on a detailed

          9  study of the record and you were referring to

         10  preserving a level playing field and then you went

         11  on to talk about the 4 to 1 and 2 to 1. Could you

         12  supply the committee a copy of that detailed study

         13  for our review?

         14                 MS. GORDON:  We have a whole report,

         15  post election report that was distributed but I'll

         16  be happy to send you an additional copy.  That went

         17  into detail on large ranges of all of these issues

         18  and we'll send that copy to you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  That report is

         20  the basis for this legislation?

         21                 MS. GORDON:  Yes, it is.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER:  Okay.  And

         23  in there you analyze the effects of going from 4 to

         24  1 to 3 to 1 to 2 to 1?

         25                 MS. GORDON:  I don't think we
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          2  discussed 2 to 1.  It wasn't a recommendation of the

          3  Board, but we discuss in each --

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER:  So you did

          5  a survey from 4 to 1 to 3 to 1, but didn't include

          6  the effects of 2 to 1, but yet the Board opposes 2

          7  to 1?

          8                 MS. GORDON:  Let me --

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER:  I'm sorry.

         10    Go ahead.

         11                 MS. GORDON:  -- Explain what's in the

         12  report.

         13  If you look in the report you'll see there are very

         14  detailed discussions of contributions, expenditures,

         15  et cetera.  And the Board, having looked at that

         16  information, came to some conclusions.  In its

         17  discussion in the report it talks about the costs of

         18  4 to 1 and 3 to 1, but the impetus for the Board's

         19  recommendation of going from 4 to 1 to 3 to 1 was

         20  not in reaction to the fiscal crisis that the city

         21  is experiencing.  That was a recommendation based on

         22  its analysis of how much money the campaigns seem to

         23  need to run for office.  I said we can provide you

         24  with information about what the differentials might

         25  be projected at for 2 to 1, but the Board was
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          2  recommending 3 to 1 on the basis of other things,

          3  not on the basis of saving money per se for the

          4  fiscal crisis.  So there's no analysis in the report

          5  about 2 to 1, but I can get that to you.  It's not

          6  part of the body of the report.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER:  Okay.

          8  Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Thank you very

         10  much.  I want to thank you for your testimony.  We

         11  will be in touch, obviously to --

         12                 MS. GORDON:  Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  -- Pursue this

         14  further.

         15  Thank you.

         16                 Next panel.  Gene Russianoff.  I

         17  thought I saw him sitting here a few moments ago.

         18  Julie Behrens, City Project.  Behrens?  Okay.  Doug

         19  Israel, Citizens Union Foundation.  Barbara Barr,

         20  Laura Altschular.  Okay.  Rachael Leon.  If you hear

         21  your name please come to the -- Emily Mathieu from

         22  CommonCause.  Is anyone here from the League of

         23  Women Voters?  Okay.

         24                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  Good

         25  afternoon.  Could you raise your right hand.  Do you
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          2  solemnly swear or affirm the testimony you're about

          3  to give is the truth, the whole truth and nothing

          4  but the truth?

          5                 MS. MATHIEU:  Yes.

          6                 MR. ISRAEL:  Yes.

          7                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  Thank you.

          8  Could you each for the record state your name and

          9  the organization you're affiliated with?

         10                 MS. MATHIEU:  Emily Mathieu,

         11  CommonCause/NY.

         12                 MR. ISRAEL:  Doug Israel with the

         13  Citizens Union.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  I guess this is

         15  Gene Russianoff?

         16                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  Good

         17  afternoon.  Could you raise your right hand?  Do you

         18  solemnly swear or affirm the testimony you're about

         19  to give is the truth, the whole truth and nothing

         20  but the truth?

         21                 MR. RUSSIANOFF:  Yes.

         22                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  Thank you.

         23  Could you for the record state your name and the

         24  organization you're affiliated with?

         25                 MS. MATHIEU:  My name is Emily
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          2  Mathieu.  I'm here from CommonCause/NY. I'm pleased

          3  to have the opportunity to testify today on the

          4  proposed changes to the Campaign Finance Program

          5  which we have supported strongly in the past and see

          6  as a model for similar programs across the country.

          7  This is the testimony of CommonCause.  I'm sure that

          8  the other panelists will fill in as they need to

          9  after I speak.

         10                 Intro. 291 would reduce the current

         11  matching system from $4 of public funds for every $1

         12  raised to $2 of public funds for every $1 raised.

         13  In February Common Cause/NY and five other civic

         14  groups signed on to a letter strongly supporting

         15  preserving the 4 to 1 match.  These other groups

         16  were the Brennen Center for Justice, Citizens Union,

         17  the New York Public Interest Research Group, the

         18  City Club of New York and the Women's City Club.

         19  The value of the 4 to 1 match is that it makes it

         20  possible for any candidate with grass roots support

         21  to run a real campaign for office by providing the

         22  funds to do so.  If the match is reduced to 2 to 1,

         23  a candidate will have to solicit more donations to

         24  raise the same amount of money and for a grass roots

         25  candidate this presents an unnecessary stumbling
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          2  block to running a competitive campaign.  For a

          3  candidate running against an incumbent, they will

          4  face a disproportionate disadvantage since the

          5  connections in name recognition that come with

          6  incumbency make it easier for incumbents to raise

          7  funds.

          8                 Under a 4 to 1 match even a small

          9  contribution translates into a meaningful boost for

         10  the campaign.  This encourages candidates to reach

         11  out to a broad range of supporters and to build

         12  relationships across the community rather than only

         13  with their wealthiest and most connected supporters.

         14                 CommonCause/NY also opposes Intro.

         15  447 which would raise contribution limits.  This

         16  reverses the change made to the program in 1998 when

         17  contribution limits were lowered and this change was

         18  a step in the right direction.

         19  Higher contribution limits favor candidates with

         20  wealthy connections and increase the influence of

         21  wealthier interests at the expense of the rest of

         22  the community.

         23                 Currently the majority of

         24  contributors do not give the maximum amount allowed,

         25  further indicating that raising this limit would be
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          2  inappropriate.

          3                 Intro. 382 includes a number of

          4  changes which CommonCause/NY would support including

          5  lowering contribution limits, expanding the

          6  definition of intermediaries, expanding the ban on

          7  corporate contributions to include other kinds of

          8  organizations and giving greater funding to program

          9  participants whose opponents are not participating

         10  in the program and are running high spending

         11  campaigns. This intro. Raises many questions about

         12  the details of the program which are worthy of

         13  debate and discussion in order to further strengthen

         14  what we feel is a very successful program on the

         15  whole.  The changes proposed in Intro. 382 echo the

         16  recommendations of the Campaign Finance Board which

         17  CommonCause/NY generally support.  However, as I've

         18  explained, we do not support the suggested lowering

         19  of the 4 to 1 match to 3 to 1.

         20                 That's in brief what I have to say

         21  today.  I will turn it over to my other panelists

         22  now, unless there are questions now.

         23                 MR. ISRAEL:  Good afternoon.  I'm

         24  Doug Israel, the current Local Candidates Staff

         25  Director with Citizens Union.  On behalf of Citizens
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          2  Union and its members throughout the city I'd like

          3  to thank the Council for the opportunity to comment

          4  on the proposed changes to the city's Campaign

          5  Finance Program.

          6                 Citizens Union is a non- partisan

          7  good government organization and since 1897 we've

          8  fought for honest and efficient government that

          9  provides high quality public service to the people

         10  of New York City.

         11                 Citizens Union strongly supports the

         12  current Campaign Finance Program of the City of New

         13  York and is committed to ensuring that it maintains

         14  its effectiveness in spite of the city's financial

         15  woes.

         16                 Citizens Union has long supported

         17  limitations on the influence of private campaign

         18  contributions on municipal and statewide elections.

         19  New York City's landmark campaign finance

         20  legislation allows candidates to spend less time

         21  fund raising and more time contacting voters in

         22  their communities, making themselves less beholden

         23  to special interests while in office.

         24                 New York City's 4 to 1 public

         25  matching fund program promotes broad participation
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          2  by eligible voters and has led to a more

          3  representative and competitive slate of candidates

          4  for public office.  Altering its formula that has

          5  helped create a more representative and responsive

          6  democracy because of financial constraints would set

          7  a bad precedent for the city and for representative

          8  democracy.

          9                 On a personal note I recently moved

         10  back to New York City after close to ten years in

         11  Washington state where I worked in electoral

         12  politics in Seattle.  Out west and throughout the

         13  nation New York has held up as a model for campaign

         14  finance reform.  Seattle has struggled with

         15  implementation of a comprehensive program and

         16  because of a slumping economy the law that

         17  established partial public financing of campaigns

         18  was allowed to elapse in 1982.  This eroded any

         19  momentum the program had and the law was repealed

         20  through a statewide ballot initiative several years

         21  later.

         22                 The Seattle Office of Election

         23  Administration issued an extensive study of

         24  municipal elections during that time period,

         25  revealing that in 1979 and 1981 when the campaign
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          2  finance reforms were in effect several trends had

          3  emerged.  First, there was a decrease in the number

          4  of individual donors and groups making large

          5  contributions.

          6  Second, the size of the average contribution to

          7  candidates also decreased and, third, there was an

          8  increase in the number of contributions by

          9  individual citizens to candidates in closely

         10  contested City Council campaigns.

         11                 I think that the Seattle case shows

         12  that not only does public financing of campaigns

         13  encourage participation from a wider range of the

         14  electorate and promote a greater level of freedom

         15  from special interests, but that it also must not be

         16  subject to the budget acts if we're committee to the

         17  ideals it achieves.

         18                 Citizens union opposes Intro. 291

         19  because it would change the formula for providing

         20  candidates with public matching funds from 4 to 1 to

         21  2 to 1 for contributions up to $250.  This change

         22  would, in effect, require a candidate to spend more

         23  time raising funds and less time studying the issues

         24  and meeting the constituents. It will also less the

         25  impact of contributions from small donors.

                                                            79

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2                 Citizens Union opposes Intro. 447

          3  because it would raise the size of contribution

          4  limits from 2,500 to $3,500.  This change would

          5  undoubtedly increase the influence of wealthy

          6  contributors to the electoral process.

          7  The current limit of $2,500 is greater than the

          8  federal limit and should not be increased.

          9                 Citizens Union urges further debate

         10  on the merits of Intro. 382.  While 382 has many

         11  positive elements, such as lowering the current

         12  campaign contribution limits, extending the ban on

         13  corporate contributions to other entities,

         14  increasing the match rate for participants facing

         15  high spending non- participants and enforcing

         16  current city restrictions on using government

         17  resources for campaigns, it would also lower the

         18  current public finance matching funds formula from 3

         19  to 1 -- from 4 to 1 to 3 to 1 and Citizens Union

         20  strongly opposes this component.

         21                 Finally, Citizens Union supports

         22  Resolution 552 because it lends support to improve

         23  the campaign finance system at the state level by

         24  lowering contribution limits, improving reporting

         25  requirements and enforcement and, most importantly,
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          2  instituting a voluntary system of full public

          3  financing of elections.  This act would promote a

          4  cleaner and more responsive government in Albany and

          5  level the playing field for potential candidates who

          6  do not have the backing of high money special

          7  interests.

          8                 In summary, Citizens Union believes

          9  that maintaining New York City's current campaign

         10  finance program is vital to ensure the health of a

         11  strong, vibrant democracy in our city.  By not

         12  allowing our model campaign finance law to become a

         13  victim of budget cuts, we will send a signal to

         14  future city representatives and the cities across

         15  the nation that the brass tacks of our democracy are

         16  not to be bargained away with each passing budget

         17  crunch.  Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Thank you very

         19  much.

         20                 MR. RUSSIANOFF:  Good afternoon, Mr.

         21  Chairman, members of the committee and staff.  You

         22  have copies of my written statement and I'll try and

         23  be very brief.

         24                 First I want to say I appreciate the

         25  early comments by you, Chairman Perkins, that we're
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          2  at the start of the process that will not apply to

          3  the 2003 elections. It's way too late to influence

          4  those elections.  We had the opportunity to be part

          5  of, I don't know, four or five post election reviews

          6  by the Council on the campaign finance law.

          7  It's an evolving law.  It's really healthy to have

          8  these debates.  After every election there have been

          9  significant changes in the law almost all of which,

         10  we think, have improved the law.  I think the

         11  Council has a great track record and I look forward

         12  to working with the committee.

         13                 In my testimony I have our views on

         14  the legislate -- the three pieces of legislation

         15  before you.

         16                 Very briefly, with all due respect to

         17  Council Member Gallagher and other sponsors of

         18  Intro. 291, NYPIRG opposes the bill.  We believe the

         19  bill, by lowering the matching formula from 4 to 1

         20  to 2 to 1, would make it harder for grass roots

         21  candidates to run for city office and would serve to

         22  protect incumbents who have easier access to

         23  campaign contributions.            In our view the

         24  bill would save little money at great expense to the

         25  effectiveness of the program.  We are very mindful
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          2  of the city's budget crunch.            I have two

          3  children in the public school system.  I'm paying

          4  higher property taxes.  I know the tough choices the

          5  Council is facing, but in the long run I believe

          6  that making candidates more reliant on private

          7  contributors and less reliant on public funds will

          8  cost the city money in terms of the influence of

          9  special interests on City Hall.

         10                 Emily referred to the letter from six

         11  civic groups.  There's a copy attached to my

         12  testimony expressing our strong support from the

         13  civic community for the 4 to 1 match.

         14                 Second, on Intro. 447 we also oppose

         15  that bill.  It would raise the size of the campaign

         16  contribution  limits going directly in the opposite

         17  direction of where the Council was the last time it

         18  amended the law.  I think the limit's already too

         19  high and I think it would be a mistake to raise

         20  them.

         21                 Then, lastly, on Intro. 382 I have

         22  the same view as my colleagues.  Again, it's the

         23  start of a debate.  We think there are a lot of good

         24  things in Intro. 382.  I would briefly enumerate

         25  them.  It lowers the current contribution limits.
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          2  It would expand the definition of intermediaries who

          3  deliver contributions.  It would extend the ban on

          4  corporate contributions to other entities.  It would

          5  collapse the current three pre- primary spending

          6  ceilings into one, which I think would make life

          7  easier for candidates and fairer for challengers'

          8  objective, non discriminatory criteria, standing in

          9  the polls, whatever, that ensure that the debate --

         10  that people who should be in the debate are in the

         11  debate.  It's not, you know, it's not an easy thing

         12  to do but I think it would make the debates more

         13  useful.

         14                 We also support their provision to

         15  indemnify the sponsors of debates since the

         16  possibility of facing litigation is serious and I

         17  think it dissuades some people from sponsoring a

         18  debate.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Anyone else?

         20                 MS. MATHIEU:  CommonCause hasn't

         21  taken a specific position on the debate issue but,

         22  in general, we would agree with the types of things

         23  that Gene spoke about, just keeping in mind the

         24  importance of giving third- party candidates the

         25  opportunity to participate when it's appropriate.
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          2                 MR. ISRAEL:  On behalf of Citizens

          3  Union we actually do not at this point have any

          4  comments to make on the record for that.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  You obviously

          6  have given some -- a lot of thought to this, Gene.

          7  Are you happy with the proposal as it is in the new

          8  legislation proposed by the Campaign Finance Board?

          9  Do you find that it eliminates as much discretion as

         10  possible in terms of who can participate and --

         11                 MR. RUSSIANOFF:  In all candor, I

         12  look forward to hearing what other people think as

         13  the debates go forward and I acknowledge that it's a

         14  controversial issue. I mean, it's a simple principle

         15  to allow everyone into at least one debate, but I

         16  think that's not always in the interests of voter

         17  education.

         18                 Council Member Gallagher.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER:  Thank you.

         20    Gene, thank you for your testimony.  I think I

         21  have a tendency to disagree with you when you say

         22  that the dollar amount is not too much.  Maybe we

         23  should just review a couple of the facts that I have

         24  before me.  You know, in the financial plan it's

         25  part of the $600 million reduction.  There was a
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          2  scheduled 467 layoffs for children's services at a

          3  cost value of about $7.6 million.  So when you're

          4  looking at that $600,000 it's all we would have to

          5  come up with if we had made the changes on campaign

          6  financing early on.

          7                 When you take a look at the

          8  elimination of the firehouses throughout the City of

          9  New York over the three year period we wouldn't have

         10  had to eliminate any firehouses if we had made the

         11  changes from a 4 to 1 to 2 to 1 for campaign

         12  financing reform.  And the list goes on, whether it

         13  be paraprofessionals in the classroom, whether it be

         14  after- school programs, whether it would be saving

         15  senior centers and senior programs or entitlement

         16  programs or transportation programs that are

         17  essential and needed or the extra meals for the

         18  senior citizens on the weekend, $7 million is in

         19  fact a lot of money that we can save when making

         20  changes.

         21                 And you know what, folks?  Maybe I

         22  would stand here and I would support you on a 3 to 1

         23  or a 4 to 1 in a time when we have surpluses in the

         24  City of New York, but we have record budget deficits

         25  and campaign financing has
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          2  a lot of merits to the program.  I never doubt that.

          3    But I think it's a program that will survive and

          4  prosper under a 2 to 1.  I believe that that still

          5  creates an equal playing field in this city.

          6                 I still say that the number one issue

          7  that has opened up government in the City of New

          8  York was term limits and those numbers are proven

          9  when you look at some 300 candidates that filed for

         10  the Campaign Finance Program in 2001 versus 134 that

         11  have filed for City Council for this year.  So I

         12  disagree with you in terms of the amount of money as

         13  being minuscule or -- in fact, $7 million can go a

         14  long way in these times in the City of New York.   That's

         15  all basically what I have to say about that.  Thank

         16  you anyway for your testimony.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Thank you.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER:  The Clean

         19  Money/Clean Elections Act, would you want to just

         20  compare and contrast the cosmology between the two,

         21  where it actually affects -- goes against the

         22  Campaign Finance Act in the city?  Balance it.

         23                 MS. MATHIEU:  Well, I don't know.  I

         24  would say that when it comes to campaign finance in

         25  Albany, CommonCause has always been a very strong
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          2  supporter of the need for serious change and

          3  improvement.  We have generally supported a

          4  different proposal, one that is modeled on the New

          5  York City program, you know, public financing

          6  program, with a match and not the Clean Money/Clean

          7  Elections program, because we've seen the New York

          8  City program work and we also think that it's an

          9  achievable reform in Albany. But having said that,

         10  Clean Money, Clean Elections would also be a

         11  dramatic improvement over the situation as it stands

         12  now at the state campaign finance.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER:  Any

         14  particular, specific area?

         15                 MS. MATHIEU:  In which it would be an

         16  improvement?

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER:  Yeah.

         18                 MS. MATHIEU:  Well, we've done a lot

         19  of studies about the influence of campaign

         20  contributions, Clean Money/Clean Elections would

         21  help eliminate the dominance of special interest

         22  money and corporate money in Albany politics and

         23  also would enable, as the New York City program

         24  does, candidates that are not connected to monied

         25  interests to run for office which is even more
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          2  important and even more -- and you can see that

          3  importance even more dramatically now when people do

          4  raise and spend so much money for office in Albany.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER:  Sounds

          6  good. Gene, or anybody else want to --

          7                 MR. RUSSIANOFF:  Well, we have common

          8  cause of view.  I mean, there are a range of reforms

          9  we would support -- we do support in Albany, whose

         10  prospects of passage range from the impossible to

         11  the extremely impossible.  Our hope is that public

         12  outrage over Albany's inability to resolve some of

         13  the major problems that face the state along with

         14  the tremendous influence of special interests up

         15  there will eventually force that institution to

         16  reform itself.  Whether it's Clean Money or a model

         17  that's more like the matching funds program in the

         18  city, we're open to a variety of solutions.  We know

         19  that there's a major problem and that Albany is not

         20  seriously coming to grips with the power and

         21  influence of special interest and special interest

         22  giving.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER:  Okay,

         24  thank you. And just one other thing.  Are candidates

         25  going to you to complain about any particular
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          2  problems or frustrations that have come down upon

          3  them, if you will, during their campaign by campaign

          4  finance issues?

          5                 MR. RUSSIANOFF:  We certainly hear

          6  from them and we participated in the debate on the

          7  bill, I believe it was Intro. 171, which became a

          8  law, which sought to simplify the program and reduce

          9  some of the burdens on the program. We certainly

         10  have supported the growth through the Board's

         11  Candidates' Services Unit.

         12                 I think there's a range of candidates

         13  from the veterans who are very savvy to people who

         14  are new to runs for political office.  I think the

         15  Board's mindful of that but can always do a better

         16  job in terms of providing the services that the

         17  candidates need to cope with the program.  It is a

         18  very complicated program and  we are sympathetic.

         19                 We supported the legislation that was

         20  adopted and we'll find out in this go- round if it

         21  makes a difference in how people feel about the

         22  Board.  I mean, in plain English, I've definitely

         23  gotten an earful from some of your colleagues and

         24  other candidates about the difficulties they had in

         25  complying with the rules and sometimes feeling they
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          2  were caught unawares.  So we're sympathetic and we

          3  continue to listen and I thought the Council made

          4  very responsible improvements in the program last

          5  go- round.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Council Member

          7  Gallagher.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER:  Thank you.

          9    This question could be directed to the Citizens

         10  Union and also CommonCause.  I know that you

         11  testified, that you say that the program works

         12  effectively and efficiently in the City of New York

         13  or that's your perception of it?

         14                 MS. MATHIEU:  Yes, that's certainly

         15  the perception of CommonCause.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER:  I don't

         17  know if you were here earlier when Miss Gordon

         18  testified and we went over some of the numbers.  My

         19  staff was able to try to get me some numbers in the

         20  interim.  Not citywide, but they had Brooklyn

         21  available, so they did Brooklyn.  We're looking at

         22  about seven candidates in Brooklyn in the last

         23  electoral cycle that had over 85% of the vote in the

         24  general election and yet still received matching

         25  finances. Two candidates that received 93% of the
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          2  vote and still got matchable dollars.

          3                 Do you have an opinion as to whether

          4  or not when a minor party candidate is running for

          5  public office and traditionally that vote may reach

          6  maybe 3 or 4%, is it your opinion that the person

          7  who's running and opposing them in the general

          8  election, who's running on the major party candidate

          9  line, should receive matchable dollars?

         10                 MR. RUSSIANOFF:  Well, it certainly

         11  sounds like that would be an expenditure in many

         12  ways and I think that as the woman from the Campaign

         13  Finance Board mentioned, there is fraud and

         14  deception that takes place in almost all these

         15  systems.  I think there is room to tweak some of

         16  these --

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER:  Please,

         18  I'm not going to the fraud.  Yes, I think that my

         19  colleague, Council Member Provenzano, detailed some

         20  of that and I do hope that there's a way that they

         21  can look at it and enforce that. That has to stop.

         22  But my question really deals with no fraud.  You

         23  have two candidates.  You have one who's on a minor

         24  party, maybe it's the Conservative Party or the

         25  former Right to Life Party where you know in a
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          2  general election that there is no way possible that

          3  that candidate will exceed 8%, more likely it will

          4  get 4 or 5% on the general election.  Should the

          5  person who's on the major line receive the maximum

          6  dollar amount for campaign financing?

          7                 MS. MATHIEU:  If I could jump in for

          8  a moment.  I was here when Nicole Gordon was talking

          9  about that and I would agree with her that,

         10  particularly when you're looking for ways to cut

         11  costs of the program without decreasing its

         12  effectiveness, that's one of the first places that

         13  people are looking.  We certainly haven't found the

         14  best solution yet.  We are more than happy to

         15  continue to hear what the Campaign Finance Board

         16  analyses are and what members of the Council think

         17  about this problem.  Because I do understand what

         18  you're saying.  I don't think that the immediate

         19  solution would be to somehow completely, you know,

         20  make a quick decision about how much that allocation

         21  should be reduced, because I do think that it's

         22  important to foster as competitive an election as

         23  possible.  But I agree with you that that's one of

         24  the places that it seems everyone who's spoken today

         25  is in agreement that we might be able to look and
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          2  find a better solution.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER:  Do you

          4  have any recommendations that we should look at in

          5  terms of should it be triggered by an electoral

          6  percentage, should it be some sort of electoral

          7  history on it?

          8                 MS. MATHIEU:  I don't and I don't at

          9  this time have a recommendation but I would say that

         10  I would be very careful about it because I think you

         11  also have to allow for the electoral landscape to

         12  change over time and if there's a party that, for

         13  instance, seems small but it's becoming more viable

         14  or is attracting more of the public's attention, you

         15  have to make sure that the system allows for that to

         16  progress naturally.  But I don't have any specific

         17  recommendations at this time.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER:  Gene?

         19                 MR. RUSSIANOFF:  It's a very tough

         20  issue. Where I live in Brooklyn there are districts

         21  in which the Republican candidates, you know, fare

         22  as well as the third party candidates in the general

         23  elections.  So, you know, what's the crystal ball?

         24  I mean, I think if we were to pass a bright line

         25  rule, it would forever place the Republican Party at
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          2  a financial disadvantage.  I think that's what the

          3  Board is grappling with, how do you predict in

          4  advance how people are going to do.

          5                 I do think the provision that was

          6  passed in the last go- round at least put some onus

          7  on the candidates who were accepting money to

          8  explain why and it does become a political issue

          9  down the road.  A candidate who takes $75,000 in

         10  public funds when they're facing what everybody

         11  knows the situation to be, very weak candidates,

         12  there is something of a political check and balance

         13  in that.  You take that money at your risk, if you

         14  do that, down the road, depending on what your own

         15  political aspirations are.              My advice to

         16  candidates in that situation, if they face nominal

         17  opposition and they know it, is to show some self-

         18  restraint.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER:  Thank you

         20  for your testimony.  I appreciate it.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Self-

         22  restraint.

         23                 MR. RUSSIANOFF:  I know that's an

         24  alien concept in the electorial system, but it --

         25                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  The scientific
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          2  approach to elections, self- restraint.  That's the

          3  art of politics, I guess.  Any other questions.

          4  Thank you very much.

          5                 Let me ask you, are you familiar with

          6  the fundamental breach of certification notion that

          7  the Campaign Finance Board uses?

          8                 MR. RUSSIANOFF:  No.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Okay.  It just

         10  provides them with some sort of discretion to

         11  determine who can participate and receive the

         12  funding.  But since you're not familiar with it, we

         13  won't pursue it any further.  Thank you.

         14                 Thank you very much for your

         15  continued participation.  We will be getting back to

         16  you soon, not only with regard to this but, you

         17  know, the HAVA (phonetic) bill is in the hopper, so

         18  to speak, and we're going to want to look at how

         19  that proposal is coming along as it relates to New

         20  York City Help America Voting Act.  As you know, my

         21  colleague, Council Member Yassky, and I have

         22  submitted another bill related to campaign reform

         23  with regard to Charter amendments.  That's going to

         24  be coming soon.  Brief yourselves on that because

         25  we're going really look forward to your support in
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          2  terms of your testimony and as to how you feel the

          3  Council should approach these matters.  Okay? Thank

          4  you very much.  Appreciate it.

          5                 Marc Landis, Chair of Clean

          6  Money/Clean Elections Campaign.  Larry Litt,

          7  Citizens Action NY.  Andrew Herschkowitz Citizens

          8  Action NY.

          9                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  Good

         10  afternoon.  Could you each please raise your right

         11  hand.  Do you solemnly swear or affirm the testimony

         12  you're about to give is the truth, the whole truth

         13  and nothing but the truth?

         14                 MR. LANDIS:  Yes.

         15                 MR. LITT:  Yes.

         16                 MR. HERSCHKOWITZ:  Yes.

         17                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  Thank you.

         18  Could you each for the record state your name and

         19  the association you're affiliated with?  Is your

         20  mike on?  The light shouldn't be on.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  If the light is

         22  on --

         23                 MR. LANDIS:  My name is Marc Landis.

         24  I'm the Chairperson of the Clean Money/Clean

         25  Election Campaign in New York City which is
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          2  sponsored by Citizen Action of New York.

          3                 MR. HERSCHKOWITZ:  I'm Andy

          4  Herschkowitz. I'm a member of Citizen Action New

          5  York.

          6                 MR. LITT:  My name is Larry Litt and

          7  I'm a member of Citizen Action New York.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Begin as you

          9  wish.

         10                 MR. LANDIS:  Good afternoon.  As you

         11  know, Citizen Action of New York is an organization

         12  that is deeply committed to fighting for racial,

         13  social and economic justice.  In our opinion, a

         14  strong campaign finance system, including public

         15  financing, is absolutely vital in any effort to

         16  achieve these goals.  That is why we, along with

         17  over 80 organizations in the Clean Money/Clean

         18  Elections Coalition, including organizations such as

         19  the statewide Senior Action Council, the

         20  Communication Workers of America, the Queens League

         21  of United Tenants, thank you for your attention

         22  today to Resolution 552 which calls upon the State

         23  Legislature and Governor Pataki to adopt the Clean

         24  Money/Clean Elections Act, a real solution to

         25  reforming the campaign finance process.
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          2                 As members of the New York City

          3  Council, all of you are familiar with the Campaign

          4  Finance Program administered by the New York City

          5  Campaign Finance Board.

          6                 And your participation in this

          7  historic program has shown the impact of campaign

          8  fiance reform firsthand.  No longer do candidates

          9  face the same pressures to raise large sums of money

         10  from donors with questionable motives, candidates

         11  with a popular base of support but smaller donors

         12  can hold their own against the self- financed

         13  candidate unless, of course, that candidate happens

         14  to be a billionaire.

         15                 Clean Money/Clean Elections is a

         16  voluntary system so no candidate is forced to

         17  participate.  However, like the New York City

         18  Campaign Finance Program, the statewide Clean

         19  Money/Clean Elections Program will contain checks

         20  and balances such as additional funding in the event

         21  a Clean Money candidate faces an opponent who

         22  refuses to participate.

         23                 Moreover, Clean Money/Clean Elections

         24  will save the state money.  In privately financed

         25  election systems we see billions of dollars spent on
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          2  tax breaks

          3  and economic development funds for wealthy

          4  corporations often without regard to the real needs

          5  of the working people of New York.  In fact,

          6  adoption of the Clean Money/Clean Elections Program

          7  statewide will encourage accountability and perhaps

          8  even allow Albany to consider restoring greater home

          9  rule to New York City once legislators are no longer

         10  dependent on the largesse of special interest

         11  donors.

         12                 Some of you face City Council term

         13  limits in two years.  Others will lave the City

         14  Council in 2009.  As talented and energetic

         15  legislators you may decide that you're interested in

         16  continuing to serve in public office. As

         17  beneficiaries of the New York City Campaign Finance

         18  Program, you understand better than anyone else what

         19  an extraordinary opportunity is offered to us if New

         20  York State adopts the Clean Money/Clean Elections

         21  Program.

         22                 We welcome your questions and feel

         23  free to contact us or Citizen Action staff for

         24  further information.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Thank you very
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          2  much.  I want to also acknowledge the minor

          3  correction that you offered in your testimony as it

          4  relates to the Assembly bill number as well as the

          5  Senate bill number.  We will make the appropriate

          6  corrections.

          7                 MR. LANDIS:  I noticed in today's

          8  draft it seemed to be in there already, which is why

          9  I didn't mention it.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Okay.  Thank

         11  you.

         12                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  Mr. Chairman,

         13  the Council members seem to have taken this moment

         14  to leave, but I think something very important has

         15  to be stated here, that this legislation, the state

         16  legislation and the city  legislation that we'd move

         17  forward is not about candidates and about campaign

         18  financing.  It's about the perception of government

         19  and the perception of democracy and politics today,

         20  not in the past, not in the future, but how people

         21  look at our political system and the incredible lack

         22  of faith that they have in it at the moment, which

         23  is proved by the numbers of people who are eligible

         24  to vote and who actually vote.  If we're not careful

         25  and we take the wrong step at this time as we come
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          2  into the 2004 election season, and I say that with

          3  all due respect to the candidates, we may end up

          4  with the smallest number of people voting because of

          5  a lack of achievement of current government

          6  officials to create an environment where we restore

          7  faith in democracy. We see it every day.  We hear

          8  about it every day.  It's the incredible amount of

          9  wondering and questioning will things ever get

         10  better.  That's what this legislation is about and

         11  that's what we have to think about before we make

         12  decisions that are just about money, just about

         13  whether or not we have paraeducators in the

         14  classroom or firehouses.  We have to wonder about

         15  ourselves, can we go on with the democracy, with an

         16  American democracy without carefully considering how

         17  we operate our electoral system.

         18                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  On behalf of

         19  my colleagues I'd like to thank the committee for

         20  this opportunity to speak. I'd also like to remind

         21  you of what John Kennedy said during a 1960 campaign

         22  when asked by the press if it was true that his

         23  father was spending all kinds of money to get him

         24  elected replied I just received a telegram from my

         25  father. He said, "Please do not buy any more votes
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          2  than you need to win.  I'll be damned if I'm going

          3  to pay for a landslide." Now, while that may be

          4  funny to some of us, it also, of course, is very

          5  cynical and I submit in the 40 some years since

          6  then, the American people, active and inactive, have

          7  become even more cynical given, in part, given the

          8  way elections and campaigns are funded.

          9                 As you know from your own experience

         10  very often the appearance of impropriety, even if it

         11  is inaccurate, can be as bad as impropriety itself

         12  and rightly or wrongly, the general public

         13  increasingly seems to feel that the electoral

         14  process is part of an inappropriate system.

         15                 One example of that is how polls show

         16  support for institutions of government keeps

         17  declining, meanwhile, legislators keep getting re-

         18  elected in record numbers.  My legislator is good,

         19  the system is bad.  In part that's because of the

         20  incumbent advantage, I believe, in raising campaign

         21  contribution money.  An election where there's

         22  unequal spending among candidates is a little bit

         23  like a debate where one side gets more time than the

         24  other side.  I think that's one cause of the low

         25  turnout, low voting turnout which was mentioned.
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          2  One cause of why the State Legislature to which this

          3  Resolution 552 is indirectly addressed has not had a

          4  turnover of the majority party in either house in

          5  nearly three decades, which I submit hurts New York

          6  City.

          7                 All those are among the reasons why

          8  Citizens Action of New York is urging the committee

          9  to recommend support of Resolution 552.  Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Thank you very

         11  much.

         12  Now, let me ask you how the bill might work,

         13  particularly in terms of where the money will come

         14  from, what are the costs do you think to the state,

         15  to the city?

         16                 MR. LANDIS:  Well, there'd be no cost

         17  to the city in this plan because this one is a

         18  straight state legislative concept and this would

         19  have to be financed out of state funds.

         20                 The cost of implementing the system

         21  would probably involved a staff of a body similar to

         22  the Campaign Finance Board type of administration

         23  here.  So I don't know exactly what the

         24  administrative costs would work out to. The actual

         25  funding costs available to the candidates in the
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          2  course of a gubernatorial year cycle, where you're

          3  talking about limitations on candidates for

          4  statewide office as well as for State Assembly and

          5  State Senate would be higher, obviously, than in the

          6  off year even year.

          7                 We could get back to you with the

          8  specific calculations, but we're confident that all

          9  of those numbers are much, much less than, number

         10  one, the amount of money

         11  that gets spent on special projects which are

         12  devoted to the needs of large donors right now.

         13                 And, number two, we're also confident

         14  that with the implementation of the Clean

         15  Money/Clean Elections system the increased

         16  confidence in government that people feel they would

         17  have the right, you know, they'd actually have an

         18  impact in electing their officials as opposed to

         19  just seeing big money elect their officials would

         20  make any additional cost that was borne by the

         21  public an acceptable cost.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Thank you very

         23  much. There's no question that in essence what we're

         24  talking about is the spirit of our democracy and the

         25  erosion of faith that money has contributed, so we
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          2  very much appreciate that.  But at the same time, we

          3  also know that democracy costs and if we don't pay

          4  the price, then we will be sacrificing the ability

          5  of the people to truly have a participatory form of

          6  government.

          7                 Does this bill speak to soft money at

          8  all?

          9                 MR. LANDIS:  This bill does not speak

         10  directly to soft money.  It does restrict donations

         11  from individuals, so it does preclude organizational

         12  giving, pack giving and the like.  Do you recall

         13  anything in the legislation that addresses soft

         14  money beyond that?  I don't think there's anything

         15  because, of course, while the Buckley decision

         16  stands as Supreme Court law, and hopefully some day

         17  that might change, it's simply not possible to

         18  restrict every point of entry in the system.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Sure.  Sure.

         20  You had a comment?

         21                 MALE SPEAKER:  I'd like to add, to

         22  address the previous point --

         23                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Bring the mike

         24  to you. Make it easy for yourself.

         25                 MALE SPEAKER:  Thank you.  I'd like
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          2  to address your previous question in that the Clean

          3  Money/Clean Election bill limits funding, public

          4  funding to a certain small percentage of the state

          5  budget.  So that puts a measurable cap on the amount

          6  of funds that are going to be spent.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  What is that

          8  percentage?  Do you know offhand?

          9                 MALE SPEAKER:  It's some small

         10  fraction of 1%.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  No problem, no

         12  problem. Yes?

         13                 MR. LANDIS:  I think to sort of give

         14  us a larger picture, there are many counties in New

         15  York State that will have to have candidate campaign

         16  finance education for their Board of Elections.

         17  This is a foreign concept. This is something from

         18  Maine or from Arizona.  This doesn't happen in New

         19  York.  It's a completely -- it's a rethinking of how

         20  politics in New York State operates.  On the county

         21  level I have a home in another county where if you

         22  are not a Republican you cannot even get your

         23  sidewalk fixed if you have a sidewalk at all.  Yet,

         24  Republicans have sidewalks. I've often wondered

         25  about that.  They don't have very good cars.
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          2                 But the problem seems to be that you

          3  need -- that we need to have a civics education

          4  program statewide that leads to certification of

          5  people to work in Boards of Election where they are

          6  responsible for their county and in turn during

          7  gubernatorial elections for their state campaign

          8  finance programs.  That is fed through the -- should

          9  be fed through the SUNY system which is -- seems to

         10  be responsible for something.  As tuitions go up we

         11  want to produce and we should produce more people

         12  who are responsible for state funds and we don't do

         13  that.

         14                 There should be a parallel education

         15  bill for civics education and implementation of that

         16  bill. Not just for more lawyers, but for people who

         17  work with election attorneys so that there can be a

         18  budget clerk and a candidate, an electoral clerk who

         19  is completely aware of all of the functions of a

         20  Campaign Finance Board at all the different levels.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Thank you very

         22  much.  I want to thank all of you for your testimony

         23  and the good work you've been doing with your

         24  organization.  We will be looking forward to working

         25  with you closely with regard to the progress of the
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          2  bill and at some point we will actually vote on the

          3  resolution and, of course, you'll get a message from

          4  us as far as that's concerned.  Thank you very much.

          5                 This hearing is adjourned.

          6                 (Hearing concluded at 3:25 p.m.)
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